





Ageing, Work-Related Stress and Health

Reviewing the evidence

Ageing, Work-Related Stress and Health

Reviewing the evidence

A report for Age Concern and Help the Aged, and TAEN - The Age and Employment Network

Amanda Griffiths Alec Knight Diana Nor Mohd Mahudin

Institute of Work, Health & Organisations University of Nottingham

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge the helpful contributions of Pamela Holmes and Caroline Needham (Help the Aged); Corinna Stowell (TAEN); Tom Cox and Juliet Hassard (University of Nottingham); Colin Mackay and Simon Webster (Health and Safety Executive); Jenny Head (University College London); Raymond Agius and Melanie Carder (University of Manchester).

The report's contents, opinions and conclusions are those of the authors alone.

Age Concern and Help the Aged 207-221 Pentonville Road London N1 9UZ

TAEN – The Age and Employment Network 207-221 Pentonville Road London N1 9UZ

© Age UK /TAEN – The Age and Employment Network 2009

All rights reserved

Contents

Foreword	7
Executive summary	9
Introduction to the report	10
Outline of the review	10
Concepts and definitions	10
The age-work-stress link	13
Effects of work-related stress on the physical health of older workers	14
Gender differences in older workers' experience of stress	15
Psychosocial work characteristics and stress in older workers	16
Stress and retirement	19
Recommendations	20
Discussion	21
References	24
Appendix: Literature review methodology	32

Foreword

Age Concern and Help the Aged (the new single charity formed in April 2009) and TAEN – The Age and Employment Network share a belief that maintaining good health and the ability to work is fundamental to giving people a better life in retirement. TAEN and Help the Aged worked together previously to commission two evidence reviews on Older Women, Work and Health (2006) and Older Men, Work and Health (2008). We wanted to better understand the health benefits and risks of work and to identify significant age and gender differences. However, neither report was able to cover work-related stress and its impact on health in depth. We felt it was important to complement the findings of our earlier reviews with this work on Ageing, Work-Related Stress and Health.

Demographic change and ageing populations have made extending working life a priority for government policy in the UK and beyond. Stress has become increasingly implicated in triggering ill health and for some people the development of long term absence from the workplace or early retirement. But very little of the existing research on work-related stress that we were able to identify concentrated on older workers. We hope that this review helps inform the policies and practices of Government, employers and the unions and that it will be of interest to older workers too.

Andrew Harrop Head of Public Policy Age Concern and Help the Aged

Chris Ball
Chief Executive
TAEN – The Age and Employment Network

Executive summary

In Britain, work-related stress is thought to be responsible for more lost working days than any other cause. It is becoming clear that it is also one factor affecting older workers' willingness and ability to remain in the labour force, as well as early ill-health retirement. With an ageing population, declining dependency ratios (the number of working people per retired person), and an increasing imperative to extend working lives, it is useful to review what is known about older people's experience of stress at work. Work-related stress is best understood as a negative emotional state which, if persistent, can lead to the development of both mental and physical illness. In particular, anxiety, depression, cardiovascular disease and musculoskeletal disorders have been associated with the report of stress and associated poor working conditions. To date however, the majority of reviews of research on workrelated stress, its causes and its effects have been based on large groups of workers very rarely distinguished by age. This report aims to address that gap.

Several large-scale studies reveal that reports of workrelated stress increase with age, peaking at about 50-55, and then decrease towards retirement. The reasons for this drop off towards retirement are not clear but possible explanations include (a) workers may leave a job or profession they find stressful and seek more congenial employment, (b) unhealthy workers are more likely to have retired early, either voluntarily or on the grounds of ill-health, (c) with increasing seniority, workers may have greater control over their working lives and be better supported (both situations associated with less stress), (d) where health is measured both objectively and subjectively, older people tend to report more positively about their health than younger people, using their peer group as a reference point, and (e) people adapt to difficult experiences with time. Thus, older workers may be healthy 'survivors'. The evidence suggests some gender differences, with women aged 45-54 reporting more stress and than men, perhaps as a result of the demands of occupying multiple roles (worker as well as carers, and often taking on the greater share of domestic responsibilities) and occupying work roles characterised by lower status and less control then men.

Research has identified several aspects of work that might be problematic for older workers and recommendations have been made as to how employers might improve working conditions such that their skill set is not lost to the labour force. Many recommendations revolve around increased flexibility, recognising that a significant proportion of older workers have caring and domestic responsibilities, and many manage long term health conditions themselves. Examples include: give older workers more choice about the level and type of work they do, including the scheduling of rest breaks and involvement in shift work, if shift work is required, to allow older workers to work day shifts rather than night shifts, to have early starts and to work rapid forward rotating systems; increase the flexibility of work arrangements, allowing flexible working hours, special leave arrangements and part-time work if required; promote an age aware and tolerant organisational culture; educate managers and workers about ageing and its implications for work and health; and to promote physical exercise. More general recommendations, such as increasing the amount of control older workers have over the work that they do and how they do it, and increasing social support at work would be likely to benefit workers of all ages. An important target for attention should be those in mid-working life (45-55) since research suggests that some of the health effects of poor working conditions take many years to become apparent. Protecting tomorrow's older workers, as well as today's, would be likely to pay dividends, particularly since it is now becoming clear that working conditions can impact on health and well-being after retirement.

1. Introduction to the report

Work-related stress is thought to be responsible for more lost working days in the UK today than any other single cause 1. It is increasingly implicated in the development of mental ill-health, heart disease, and musculoskeletal disorders 2, as well as an increasing number of other conditions, and early ill-health retirement. While there has been a considerable amount of research published on the subject of workrelated stress 3, very little has focused on the situation of older workers. The majority of research on work-related stress, its causes and its effects, has been based on large groups of workers very rarely distinguished by age. Such research may be limited in assuming that work that is reported as stressful for one age group may be the same for another 4. There currently are good reasons to support further consideration of this issue.

A significant demographic change, known as population ageing, can be observed in many western countries. A combination of factors is responsible, although increasing life expectancy and declining birth rates are the primary drivers. Within the EU15 it is estimated that by the year 2025, the proportion of 50 to 64-year-old workers will double in size as compared to workers under the age of 25 years ⁵⁶. The UK is no exception; many organisations will see parallel changes in the age profile of their workforce.

In addition, over the coming decades increasing numbers of older people will need or want to extend their working lives, and to postpone retirement for longer than has been the norm in recent decades. Recent and proposed changes in UK legislation have been designed to facilitate later retirement. There are both 'push' and 'pull' factors affecting people's willingness or ability to remain in the labour force. Major factors include physical and mental health, financial circumstances, domestic circumstances, caring responsibilities and type of employment. In the UK, where pension remuneration is low compared to other industrialised countries, it has been suggested that financial circumstances may be a more important factor in retirement decisions than elsewhere 7. Research has shown that other factors relevant in such decisions include opportunities for flexible working arrangements, access to training, job opportunities, attitudes towards work and leisure, social networks and future expectations 89. But more recently, it is becoming clear that a major 'push' factor is work-related stress, alongside associated concerns such as dissatisfaction with work, long working hours and demanding working practices, together with worries that stress may exacerbate

existing health conditions ¹⁰⁻¹³. Evidence is also emerging to suggest that the quality of working life has negative effects on quality of life after retirement ¹⁴.

Help the Aged and TAEN have published previous reviews on older women, work and health 15 and older men, work and health 16. These provided an overview of health issues from an age and gendered perspective but did not deal in depth with the issue of work-related stress. This report aims to explore and close this gap in our understanding, by reviewing the scientific literature on work-related stress and addressing several questions. Do older workers experience more or less stress than younger workers? To what extent does it affect their health? What aspects of work are experienced as stressful by older workers? Could the work situation of older workers be better designed and managed, both for their benefit and that of their employing organisations? We hope that this report will contribute to the promotion of appropriate age management policies and practices, and enable older people and employers to make more informed choices about working in later life.

2. Outline of the review

The review begins by defining the major topics of the report – age, work and stress. It then explores the relationship between age and reported work-related stress, and proceeds to outline the physical health outcomes associated with reported stress in older workers. Separate consideration of gender differences is provided. The specific characteristics of work that might be stressful for older workers are then explored. The issue of retirement and its association with stress is also examined. The report concludes with a discussion of the gaps and shortcomings in the published research and offers some tentative suggestions for employers on how to promote the successful management of an older workforce. Information about how the review was conducted is given in the Appendix.

3. Concepts and definitions

The terms 'age', 'work' and 'stress' are used and understood very differently. For example, when used by a layperson, "a stressful day" might simply mean "a busy day". A researcher might understand this to refer to a particular set of circumstances or outcomes that research has shown to be associated with certain negative health outcomes. This report begins by considering these defining concepts.

Age and the older worker

There are no agreed criteria used by researchers as to what constitutes an 'older worker'. Much of the lack of agreement reflects the different employment and social welfare practices across countries. However, most research on older workers has focused on those aged 45–65 years. There is a notable lack of information on workers who are

over 65. This relatively restricted age range for research into older workers may change as people work longer, and as statutory retirement ages continue to rise. In the UK, for example, the State Pension Age for women will rise from 60 to 65 from 2010 to 2020, making it equal to that of men. Subsequently, from 2024 to 2046 it will increase from 65 to 68 for both men and women (Pensions Act, 2007). Similar changes have already occurred or will occur in many other countries over the next few decades.

All research studies on older workers refer to chronological age, but few provide measures of seniority or occupational grade. Generally, people rise through employment grades to a higher level with increasing age, and frequently take on greater management or supervisory responsibilities. They often gain more control over their working life and environment. Thus, the nature of work itself can change with age. It is difficult to find data that compare older and younger workers doing the same type of work, and that explore whether any particular aspect of the work is differentially stressful for either group. So, when research compares the experience of work for younger and older workers, it is rarely comparing like with like. This is one source of bias. In addition, as workers become older they are more likely to take ill-health retirement. This may be related to the nature of their work in that those with 'healthy' jobs may be less likely to take ill-health early retirement. A second source of bias therefore exists in the data when younger and older workers are compared. The older workers studied may be 'healthy survivors'.

People tend to change jobs, organisations and even careers over the course of their working lives. The likelihood that a person will have had several jobs increases with age. This can change the amount of exposure to causes of work-related stress. It is also possible that after many years in an organisation, more experienced workers 'know the system' and work it to their advantage. Thus, how long a person has been in a particular job, or in a particular organisation (tenure), also becomes a relevant consideration. However, research studies rarely include measures of tenure. It is clear that the role of tenure in relation to workers' age, their experience of stress and health is not a simple one.

There are other ways of thinking about the role of age when exploring older peoples' experience of work, but these are very rare in the published literature. Managers' and co-workers' personal definitions of an older worker, for example (as opposed to researchers' definitions), may drive their attitudes and behaviour towards older workers. Workers who report high levels of stress and burnout are more likely to report 'feeling older' than their chronological age 17 18. Further, research can consider functional or physiological age (somewhat similar to the concept of frailty), since chronological age on its own may not be a reliable indicator of a person's ability to perform certain types of work task. In fact, although it might be generally true that older workers are less able to do certain tasks than younger workers 19, the variance in ability between workers increases with age 2021. Although recognising its limitations, this review focuses solely on chronological age.

Work

There are a wide variety of perspectives that can be taken on the meaning of 'work' and 'working'. This review concerns people in paid employment. However, as will be discussed later, it is illuminating to compare reports of stress by older people in paid employment, those in unpaid employment and those who are not employed.

The vast majority of participants in research studies on work-related stress are in paid employment in medium or large organisations. However, it should be borne in mind that the majority of workers throughout the European Union are self-employed or employed in small or micro companies (1-49 employees), and a substantial proportion of these are older workers ²². People working in small and micro companies are not well represented in the general scientific literature on work-related stress, nor in that relating to older workers.

Work-related stress

Recognition of the importance of workplace practices and management styles for worker health, both mental and physical, began to emerge in the mid-19th century, particularly after the Industrial Revolution. One of the first to voice concern was Friedrich Engels in *The Condition of* the Working Class in England, first published in German in 1845. He described in detail the physical and psychological health problems suffered by workers from many different trades. He believed the origins of these problems lay in the organisation of work and its social and physical environments. The strange and dehumanising world of factories and offices began to appear in such commentaries and in novels throughout Europe in the late 19th and early 20th centuries, for example, in the works of authors such as Kafka and Zola. However, a considerable period of time elapsed before the effects of the organisation of work and management style on health (as opposed to the effects of the physical work environment on health) were subject to serious scientific scrutiny. This largely began in Northern Europe and the United States in the mid-20th century 23. Nonetheless, it was not until the impact of such working conditions on physical (as opposed to mental) health became recognised, and some of the physiological systems involved in such 'mind-body' interactions were identified 24, that the concept of 'stress' has been taken seriously.

Definition of work-related stress

The concept 'stress' has often been confused with that of 'challenge' ²⁵. Challenge can motivate people to master novel situations and learn new skills. It can be motivating and energising - both psychologically and physiologically - and is often an important ingredient in productive and enjoyable work. This is probably the origin of the expression "a little bit of stress is good for you". However, challenge is not the same as stress.

Stress is currently defined by the British Government's Health and Safety Executive (HSE) as "an adverse reaction" and "the process that arises where work demands of various types and combinations exceed the person's

capacity and capability to cope" 1. The HSE consider that "work-related stress is a significant cause of illness and disease, and is known to be linked with high levels of sickness absence, staff turnover and other indicators of organisational underperformance - including human error". In other words, stress is proposed as a process or linking mechanism between exposure to certain aspects of work, on the one hand, and ill-health outcomes on the other 3. One important factor may be a perceived imbalance between the requirements of the job and the ability to carry it out. Thus, 'stress' begins as a psychological mechanism involving people's personal appraisals of their working conditions. These psychological processes are fundamental in understanding the relationships between work and health ^{25 26} and thus most research uses self-report measures of working conditions.

To assist employers, there are many guides to what 'healthy' or 'good' work should look like. A large body of published research from the past 25 years has identified in broad terms the characteristics of work design and management that can be detrimental for many people and are associated with the experience of stress. Reviews suggest that they traditionally concern difficulties with workload, work pace, working hours, organisational culture, participation and control, interpersonal relationships, career development, role-related issues and the home-work interface ^{3 27}. To date, not much of this research has focused on age.

The scientific literature on work-related stress refers to chronic rather than acute stress: to the experience of long-term, potentially adverse working conditions rather than to unusual, acute or dramatic events such as a violent incident at work that might be better described as potentially traumatic.

Effects of work-related stress

Stress is understood to manifest itself in many ways, but it is particularly obvious when there are changes in the way people feel, think and behave both at work and outside work. For example, they may experience emotional symptoms (irritability, loss of motivation, increased sensitivity and tearfulness, feeling anxious or depressed) or demonstrate cognitive changes (indecision, confusion, poor memory and lack of concentration). Further, when people experience stress their behaviour often changes: their diet, sleep patterns and exercise habits change, usually in ways that are detrimental to health. They may also be less likely to adhere to medical regimes.

When workers are stressed they may show changes in work-related behaviour, including lack of confidence, poor relationships with colleagues, poor quality work, susceptibility to accidents, social withdrawal, and poor time management. They may also smoke, drink or take recreational drugs more than usual. At the organisational level, increases in disputes, complaints and grievances, sickness absence, staff turnover and customer dissatisfaction may also be indicative of work-related stress.

Among the most well documented outcomes of work-

related stress in research studies are anxiety and depression. These are common mental health problems, experienced by one in four people in the UK at some point in their life, often as a reaction to difficult events like divorce, bereavement, physical disease as well as problems at work. These 'minor psychiatric' problems are wrapped into the definition of stress in regular surveys of work-related ill health ²⁸. Such conditions tend to be treated by general practitioners, particularly if long-lasting or severe, with medication or psychological therapies such as cognitive behavioural therapy. But they may resolve themselves.

The experience of work-related stress may trigger mental health problems, or exacerbate existing mental health problems that people may otherwise have managed successfully 1. The research literature on the subject of workrelated stress uses many terms to refer to its associated precursors, psychological states or consequences: for example, stressors, psychosocial hazards, stress, anxiety, depression, depressive mood, distress, strain, mental illhealth, psychological ill-health, emotional exhaustion, burnout or minor psychiatric morbidity. Some literature tends not to use the term 'stress' at all, and prefers to refer to direct associations between a limited set of broad work characteristics and established diagnoses such as depression or heart disease. It notable that there is considerable overlap in terminology, as well as a lack of clarity as to whether a term refers to causes, processes or outcomes. The relationship between work characteristics and the report of stress or poor mental health outcomes is discussed in more detail in Section 7.

As well as these well-known associations with common mental health problems, there are established links between the experience of chronic stress (both work-related and non work-related) and the development of cardiovascular and other diseases. Evidence for disease progression is stronger than for disease causation. The evidence is summarised in Section 5. Most of the research on the role of stress in physical disease (with the notable exception of heart disease) has not been done with reference to working populations, but rather with reference to specific illnesses. However, there is no reason to suppose that the psychophysiological and behavioural mechanisms are different.

In summary, work-related stress is probably best understood as an unpleasant emotional state that results from an unhealthy transaction between the environment and the person that, if persistent, can lead to the development of both psychological and physical illness. Matters tend to be worse when people are put under prolonged pressure, have little control or flexibility over what they do and are not well supported or resourced ³. Research has also shown that the effort people put into their work can be seen as part of a social contract, and if not rewarded appropriately (for example, by means of money, esteem, job security or opportunities for advancement) is associated with poor mental and physical health outcomes ^{29 30}. Contrary to the view widely held some years ago, it is not just senior

managers and those in positions of responsibility who are likely to experience stress. Stress and its associated ill-health outcomes are more likely to be reported by people in jobs with little autonomy. Whether or not people experience a situation as stressful is partly determined by how they appraise the demands placed on them, the effectiveness of their coping strategies, and how important coping is for them ²⁵. Anyone, in any occupation, can suffer from work-related stress, but it has been commonly reported among teachers, nurses, medical practitioners, public administration and public sector security based occupations such as police officers, prison officers, and UK armed forces personnel ²⁸ ³¹.

It is clear that the experience of stress is not a process that results from a person being mentally 'weak', as was commonly thought some years ago. However, it is likely that differences in knowledge, personality and preferred coping styles when faced with demanding situations will partly determine whether or not situations are experienced as 'stressful'. For example, the role of beliefs about disease and coping strategies are becoming the focus of research that attempts to explain why some patients recover better than others from demanding experiences such as surgery 32. It follows from this contemporary understanding of work-related stress that there are several possible ways of preventing and managing it. One approach would be to provide support, treatment and rehabilitation for those workers affected. Another would be to strengthen workers' abilities to cope with the demands placed upon them, perhaps by means of training for the job, or by coaching them to cope with demands in more effective ways. However, European and British legislation dictate that it is an employer's duty to avoid risks to worker health and to combat risks at source 33. Therefore, the focus for change should be on work, not exclusively on workers.

4. The age-work-stress link

Do older workers report more or less stress than their younger colleagues? This question, and its answer, are partly determined by the way in which older and younger workers are defined in research, and partly determined by how stress is conceptualised and measured. It is also complicated by the sample of workers chosen for study.

Taken at face value, there appears to be much evidence suggesting that older people in general, and older workers specifically, report less stress and better mental health than their younger counterparts ³⁴⁻⁵⁴. However, some evidence exists to suggest the contrary: that older workers experience more stress than their younger counterparts ⁵⁵⁻⁶⁰. A small amount of evidence exists suggesting that there is no difference in reports of stress between younger and older workers ⁶¹⁻⁶². Several substantive studies, such as the surveys carried out periodically by the Health and Safety Executive, suggest that the relationship between age and stress is curvilinear (inverse U-shaped) ²⁸⁻⁶³⁻⁶⁴. Data provided for this report by the Health and Occupational

Reporting Network (THOR), in particular by psychiatrists to the Surveillance of Occupational Stress and Mental Illness (SOSMI) between 2002-2008 also demonstrate this pattern, with the incidence of anxiety and depression, as well as work-related stress, peaking at about the age of 50. (Supplier: THOR, Occupational and Environmental Health Research Group, University of Manchester, Source: SOSMI 2002-2008). Although the exact relationship between sickness absence due to psychiatric disorders is not clear, the data do suggest that older workers who are absent from work because of mental ill health are off work for relatively long periods, and are also likely to leave the workforce through ill health or disability retirement 65 66.

Data have also been made available for this report by the HSE, which combine information on age and workrelated stress and associated mental ill health (anxiety and depression) from the Labour Force Surveys of 2004/2005 through to 2007/2008. For the combined sample of men and women, there is a flat inverted U shaped relationship between age and the self report of stress, anxiety and depression. Younger workers, 34 years and less, report less stress, anxiety and depression than workers between 35 and 54 years while those above 55 years report even less stress, anxiety and depression. Further examination of these data reveals that the lower levels of report in the group aged 55 years and over are largely due to levels of report for those aged 60 and older. This pattern remains obvious when broken down by gender although it is less marked for women than for men (Supplier: HSE, Source: Labour Force Surveys).

There are two important findings which emerge from these data. First, the relationship between age and the report of stress, anxiety and depression is a flat inverted U shaped function and, second, there is little difference in levels of report between the ages of 35 years and 60 years. The latter supports the contention that arbitrarily defining the older worker in research as somebody over 45 years may not be sound and may have led to research being insensitive or even misleading.

Several interesting processes may contribute to older workers reporting less stress and mental ill health than younger workers: the 'healthy worker' or 'survivor' effect, and the 'frame of reference' effect or 'age-reporting bias'. Few published studies have made allowance for these.

The 'healthy worker' or 'survivor' effect suggests that stressed, burned-out workers are likely to have left a job or profession they find stressful and moved into one that find more congenial before reaching an older working age, or even retire early on grounds of ill-health. This is supported by evidence that workers who reported high levels of stress at the beginning of a study were more likely to have moved out of those jobs four years later than those who reported low levels of stress ⁶⁷. It is very possible that older workers who participate in research studies are therefore 'survivors'. Research from the large-scale 'Whitehall II' study of civil servants in the UK found that stronger correlations between work stress and heart disease have been found

in workers aged less than 50 than in those aged over 50: again suggesting a healthy survivor bias. It is also theoretically possible that those workers over 50 remaining in employment have different coping strategies or have become 'hardened' to potentially stressful work situations. These 'survivors' may be psychologically well adapted to deal with stressful situations, may be of a somewhat 'hardier' disposition with more adaptive personality traits 58 ^{64 68}, or may have made their way into a more senior position where they are more in control of their working life and are better supported 69. These older workers are also likely to benefit from higher average incomes and better intrinsic rewards than younger, less senior workers 63. Certainly data from the 'Whitehall II' study would support this possible conclusion, in that employees with poor mental health are more likely to retire early than their colleagues with good mental health 7. The same study also reports an inverse-U relationship between mental health and age, with the oldest workers reporting better mental health 34. There is evidence that stress may play a part in this since data made available for this report from the 'Whitehall II' study show that employees who report less control are more likely to retire earlier than those who report greater control (Source - personal communication, Jenny Head, University College London). The fact that both the Health and Safety Executive's Self-Reported Work-Related Illness surveys and the Whitehall studies of civil servants have also shown workers' mental health to improve after retirement, suggests that there may still be a negative effect of work on mental health even in the oldest groups of workers, even though the older workers in the Whitehall study report control to increase with age and job demands to decrease. So, although there are self-selection effects into early retirement (the healthy worker effect) this does not account for all the age-related improvement in mental health seen across this sample. Clearly, other factors are operative.

In addition to the healthy worker (or 'survivor') effect, there are two other possible sources of bias that should be borne in mind when thinking about the reasons for the apparent report of less stress and related mental health problems by older workers. Social scientists often use 'subjective' health measures as they are not satisfied with simple 'objective' (biomedical) measures of health and sickness. There is evidence from studies where health is measured both objectively and subjectively (via self-report), that older people report more positively about their health than younger people 70-72 73. This has been explained in terms of peer-referenced decision making on one's state of health 74 75: a process whereby older people may contextualise their ratings of health with regard to their age and peers 76 77. In addition, people adapt to difficult experiences with time 78. For whatever reason, this finding has been supported using data from the British Household Panel Survey 1995 79 where, when people are asked about their health 'compared to others of their age', responses show age-norming. Cohort effects (variations arising from the different societies and environmental factors to which birth cohorts are exposed to over time) may also play a role in how people report their health.

In relation to the hypothesised curvilinear relationship between age and the report of stress, it is interesting to consider the role of job satisfaction. Evidence suggests that workers who are more satisfied with their job are less likely report stress 80 and this also holds true for older workers 81. In a sample of workers over 50, low job satisfaction was associated with poor physical and mental health 82 83. Additional evidence suggests that older workers are more alert to organisational politics and that this impacts negatively on job satisfaction 84. Exploring the specific relationship between age and job satisfaction reveals a curvilinear relationship (U-shaped) precisely opposite to that between age and stress (inverse U-shaped). Two largescale studies 63 85 found that high stress, low job satisfaction and poor mental health all peaked in mid-life workers. Older workers tended to report higher job satisfaction, lower stress and better mental health. The power of these studies is the suggestion that such relationships may not simply increase or decrease with age, but rise and fall over working life.

Overall, the weight of evidence suggest that older workers report less stress and mental ill-heath than their younger colleagues but that this finding is not as straight forward as it might appear since older workers may represent a healthy survivor population who also frame their perceptions and expectations about health more positively.

5. Effects of work-related stress on the physical health of older workers

Although increasing age is associated with a greater likelihood of physical illness, it is possible that work may play a part in explaining some of this increased risk. It is known that certain physical health conditions can be precipitated or exacerbated by stressful work environments. Evidence suggests that stress is linked to chronic disease amongst older workers 62 86 87 and has largely focused on the link between stress and two categories of physical health conditions: (i) cardiovascular conditions such as heart disease and hypertension 88-97 and (ii) musculoskeletal disorders like lower-back pain 2 98-100. Generally, strong evidence exists to support the notion that work-related stress is associated with increased likelihood of developing cardiovascular or musculoskeletal disorders 2 67 87 90-94 96-100 although evidence for its role in the development of other conditions 87 also exists. For example, one study reported that tumours were more common among older workers who had been employed in stressful jobs than among older workers employed in less stressful jobs 86. However, the small numbers involved and the heterogeneity of tumours makes it difficult to draw firm conclusions.

Various mechanisms to account for the relationship between stress and physical ill-health have been proposed. It is known that stress affects the neural, endocrine and immune systems, and inflammatory processes ^{101 102} and thus has the potential to affect a wide range of functions. Evidence for the role of stress is beginning to emerge with

regard to the onset of upper respiratory tract infections and the progression or reactivation of conditions such as asthma, herpes viral infections, autoimmune diseases, and wound healing as well as cancer and HIV progression ²⁴. The experience of stress has been shown to have a negative effect on older workers' sleeping patterns and on their ability to recover from fatigue to a greater extent than for younger workers ¹⁰³ ¹⁰⁴. Most researchers agree that disturbed sleep and increased need for recovery from fatigue may lead to adverse health outcomes for older workers and may exacerbate other ailments ¹⁰⁵-107.

It is possible that the size of the negative effect of stress on older workers' physical health may have been underestimated due to the fact that workers with severe physical health problems often leave the workforce before retirement. The remaining older workers, therefore, represent those not affected by physical ill health to such an extent that they can no longer work. In other words, as discussed above, they are healthy 'survivors'.

It is informative to explore predictors of early retirement on grounds of physical health conditions. Evidence suggests that musculoskeletal disorders, cardiovascular disease and psychiatric disorders are the most common reasons for early ill-health retirement ¹⁰⁸ ¹⁰⁹. Of course, all clearly have causes that extend beyond work, but work stress can make a significant and independent contribution to these conditions.

6. Gender differences in older workers' experience of stress

The most consistent finding among the research studies reviewed for this report is that older women seem to report more work-related stress than older men 28 36 40 45 46 53 63 69 80 ¹¹⁰⁻¹¹⁴ with few exceptions ^{54 59 62}. For example, a large-scale survey on self-reported work-related illness reported by the HSE has repeatedly found the prevalence of work-related stress, anxiety and depression to be higher among women than men across most age groups. Women aged 45-54 years of age consistently report higher levels of work-related stress, anxiety and depression than any other age group ²⁸. A population-based (as opposed to work-based) survey in Britain also found women were more likely to report common mental health disorders compared than men (19.7 per cent to 12.5 per cent, respectively), with women aged 45-54 years demonstrating the highest prevalence; approximately a quarter of this group reported at least one common mental health disorder 115. And a populationbased study of Finnish working adults aged 30-64 years found, using a measure of 'burnout', that it increased with age among women but remained stable in men 116.

Interpreting reported gender differences in work-related stress is not straightforward. Women may be more prepared to report stress than men and it is known that women have a different physiological response to stressful work situations than men ¹¹⁷. A number of other explanations

can be offered to explain the increased reporting of work-related stress among older women. First, research demonstrates that older women report markedly greater domestic responsibilities than older men, and more stress from personal and family responsibilities. Working women on average conduct an additional 20 hours of domestic activity ¹¹⁸ ¹¹⁹. Many middle-aged women have the additional responsibility of caring for teenage children, disabled partners or frail and elderly parents ¹²⁰. Multiple roles are thought to involve greater physical and emotional strain and to result in poorer mental health ⁶⁴ ⁴⁹ ⁸⁸ ¹¹¹ ¹²¹.

Second, women and men may have different responses to potentially difficult situations. Women, in comparison to men, are more likely to use coping strategies involving verbal expression, to seek emotional support, ruminate about problems, cope with problems by talking with others, and to use positive self-talk 122 123. Social support may be particularly important for women. In a large study of nearly 48,000 older working women, those with strong social networks demonstrated better mental health than those who were more isolated. This association was even stronger for those women who reported high levels of work and home stressors 124. Further, a large-scale, prospective study of women and men in their mid-50s in Sweden revealed that low social support at work was an important predictor of future cardiovascular disease (the likelihood of having a heart attack or stroke). On the other hand, two large-scale studies showed that high job strain predicted subsequent hypertension in men but not in women 93 96 (although a further study did not find clear-cut gender differences ⁹⁰). The particular health consequences women and men experience as a result of various stressors may be different 90, although the picture is as yet far from clear.

Third, women tend to work in different occupations and under different working conditions from men ¹²⁵⁻¹²⁸. Work that is poorly paid, of low status and that makes high demands but offers little opportunity for control is thought to be more stressful than work that does not have such characteristics. And such conditions describe the work of women more often that that of men ¹⁵.

Fourth, a factor, which may be relevant when considering higher reported rates of work-related stress and poorer mental health among older women, may be the contributory role of the hormonal changes associated with menopause. The majority of women experience menopausal transition between the ages of 45-55, with the average age at menopause in Western countries being 51. For many this experience is associated, among other symptoms, with sleep disturbance and fatigue. One study suggested that those women who reported having stressful jobs were more likely to experience an earlier menopause 129, and that this was due to the effects of stress on the autonomic nervous system, neuroendocrine activity and thus reproductive function. In another study, levels of stress hormones were lower in postmenopausal women taking HRT than women of the same age who were not taking HRT. The authors proposed that hormone replacement might be influential in reducing the stress response 130.

7. Psychosocial work characteristics, stress and mental ill health

It is now well recognised in the general scientific literature and in government policy that certain aspects of work, often referred to as 'psychosocial' factors, are associated not just with poor physical health but also with poor mental health. The term 'psychosocial' is often used as a short hand to refer to the design and management of work and work organisations. The evidence is clear that aspects of the design and management of work and work organisations can contribute to poor mental health and this relationship is usually explained in terms of the experience of stress ³.

A considerable amount of research on older workers has been carried out in Finland, where Ilmarinen and his colleagues ¹³¹ ¹³² have reviewed the early research evidence and identified three categories of risk factors that are likely to be detrimental to the work ability (and health) of older workers. Two categories (high physical demands and adverse work environment) relate to the physical demands of work and are primarily associated with negative physical health outcomes, although negative mental health outcomes have also been reported. The third category (poorly organised work) refers to the organisational and psychological demands of work. These are the focus of this section of the report.

The categories of risk factors identified by Ilmarinen and his colleagues are also broadly consistent with the risk factors identified in reviews by several other researchers. Walker and Taylor 133 identified, among other things, two sets of risk factors relating to flexible working practices (flexible working hours, age related leave, part-time work, and self regulation of pace), and to job design (workload, organisation of tasks, shift labour). Similarly, Boyes and McCormick 134 highlighted lack of flexibility as an issue likely to affect the work ability of older workers, as well as the balance between work contributions (effort) and rewards, work-life balance, and holiday and sick leave entitlements. The review by Costa 135 focused on the detrimental effect of high workload and non standard working patterns on older workers' physical ability, and on older workers' particular need for rest pauses, frequent health checks and training on coping strategies. Finally, Silverstein reported that policies relating to older workers and stress should consider the work environment, work arrangements and work-life balance, health promotion and disease prevention, and social support 136.

Methodological issues

It is important to note that many of the available studies of the impact of psychosocial factors on health are cross-sectional. On the basis of this evidence, it is difficult to disentangle whether, over time, psychosocial work characteristics influence mental health, or, vice versa, poor mental health influences the positioning of people with respect to such aspects of work. Poor mental health could predispose people to self-select into jobs with poor

psychosocial characteristics. Equally, it could negatively influence people's ability to maintain healthy working relationships and discharge work tasks and responsibilities. A combination of such mechanisms might drive this relationship. At the same time, the evidence suggests that exposure to poor psychosocial work characteristics increases the risk of future mental health problems such as depression and anxiety 137. Research has also found that mental ill health resulting from stress may not occur instantaneously and there is evidence that it may appear as much as 10 years later 86 138. It is likely that both mechanisms operate: there is a two way relationship between poor mental health and exposure to poor psychosocial work characteristics. Despite this, most researchers focus on the effects of poor psychosocial work characteristics on mental health.

Many research studies on older workers' experience of work-related stress focus on a particular occupation, often in the public sector, such as nursing or teaching. Psychosocial work characteristics and related sources of stress may differ significantly between such groups. This fact might help explain some of the apparently contradictory research findings relating to age, stress and work. On the other hand, since broad contextual factors such as organisational culture and management style are also known to be potential sources of stress, it is possible to find groups of workers in the same occupation but in different organisations reporting quite different levels of work stress and related ill-health 4. A further complicating factor is that experience may help older workers in one occupation to cope more effectively with the challenging aspects of their job whereas in another, continued exposure may lead them to 'burn out'. Therefore, concluding that specific occupations or particular psychosocial work characteristics have predictable effects with regard to stress and health in older workers can be unsafe.

A further criticism of this research has been that much of it is based on self-report, and should include a measure of 'negative affectivity' (a measure of the general tendency some people may have to report negatively on self-reported questionnaire items). However, even when this is taken into account, its effects are not always systematic nor straightforward to interpret ¹³⁹.

Despite these caveats and uncertainties, the evidence suggests that jobs which involve a particular combination of psychosocial characteristics are more likely to be experienced as stressful and be associated with the report of negative mental health outcomes such as anxiety and depression. These include: high job demands, low control, and low social support ¹³⁷. Other factors may also be involved including the balance of effort and reward. These particular psychosocial characteristics are discussed below.

Job demands

There is a large amount of indirect evidence on the job demands that older workers report as stressful. It is known that ageing is associated with declines in physical abilities such as muscle strength, sight, hearing and reaction time 140-143. It follows that any job with tasks that make specific demands in these areas may be more easily managed by younger workers in general. However, it should also be noted that there is a wide variety of ability in older workers, as in younger workers. Therefore, it is sensible to approach such issues on a case-by-case basis rather than treat individuals as representatives of an age category. Furthermore, only a small proportion of tasks make specific physical demands on workers, and it is often the responsibility of the employer to make work adjustments where appropriate to accommodate those with reduced ability.

Ilmarinen and colleagues suggest that work demands should change with age and work should not be designed to be conducted exclusively by healthy people ¹³². In addition, Ilmarinen and colleagues suggest that physical exercise should be promoted to improve older workers' work ability, and that employers should conduct regular work ability checks with special attention to stress.

Evidence suggests that older workers are particularly sensitive to organisational issues such as poor management systems and procedures, and to any associated impact on work-life balance. In particular, devaluing behaviours of supervisors and disappointment with management have been reported as particular challenges that trouble older workers ¹⁴⁴. Another study suggested that role conflict, fear of making mistakes, lack of influence over one's work, lack of professional development and a lack of feedback are all job characteristics that may be associated with increased stress among older workers ¹⁴⁵. Worry about unemployment and becoming unemployed have also been shown to have significant negative effects on the mental health of older workers ¹³⁷ ¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁹.

One of the challenges in exploring the demands of work that are particularly problematic for older workers in comparison with their younger counterparts, is that it is unusual to find a group of workers with a wide age range who are all doing the same type of work. Both age and tenure are usually associated with seniority (itself in turn associated with different working conditions). Research on such groups is therefore rare. However, there are a few exceptions. In one study, older fire fighters reported significantly more emotional and mental demands from their work than did their younger counterparts 150. And in jobs involving computer work, older and younger workers reported different tasks to be stressful 151; older workers were more stressed than younger workers doing a problem solving task involving a graphical user interface, whereas younger workers were more stressed than older workers on an information retrieval task that involved a sociallyinteractive telephone component. The evidence suggests that the speed with which we process information declines from the age of 25 152. For example, there are known age-related declines in activities such as selecting target information from complex displays, visual and auditory abilities, working memory capacity, attentional capacity, novel problem-solving and information processing speed

¹⁵³ ¹⁵⁴. It is established that older workers usually have more expertise and are reported as being more 'agreeable' than younger workers ¹⁵⁵, which together might suggest they would be better at 'customer relations' and find such a role easier than their younger colleagues.

Working hours and time pressures

A recent review concluded that time pressure is particularly demanding for older workers, and has a negative impact on their health, well-being and efficiency 156. With specific reference to working overtime, Grosch and colleagues suggested that interventions should aim to reduce workload and time pressures to prevent fatigue and manage workfamily conflict 56. One study, for example, suggested that the experience of stress could be reduced among older veterinarians by, among other things, reducing on-call duty and cutting down working hours 45. These suggestions are consistent with evidence that older workers have a higher need for physical and mental recovery than younger workers ¹⁰⁵. The evidence suggests that good work-rest schedules and a flexible approach to taking breaks from work (as well as physical activity and relaxation techniques) may all be beneficial for older workers 94 156.

Shift work

There is a commonly held assumption that shift working is stressful and is bad for the health of older workers and should therefore be avoided. However, the available scientific literature does not support such a simple conclusion ¹⁵⁷. It seems likely that it is the cumulative effect of the number of years spent shift working that is important in predicting ill-health effects ¹³⁵ ¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰, some would say even more powerfully than chronological age ¹⁶¹. Some evidence suggests that older workers may not adjust as well as younger workers to night and afternoon shifts, and are more likely to report themselves as morning types ¹⁶⁰.

As well as length of exposure to shift work, there may be at least three other factors that determine the expressed effects of shift work in relation to older workers. First, there is the healthy worker effect. Workers who are less able to adapt to shift work may not select themselves into such work or, if so employed, may select themselves out as they experience difficulty 162. The 'survivor' population may therefore be able to cope with shift work better and be less affected by it than the general working population of comparable age. Experimental studies are more powerful than studies based in organisations, because of this tendency for workers to self-select out of jobs that require shift work if they find it challenging; but such studies are less common. One study compared workers who had stopped shift working for health reasons with those who had stopped shift working for other reasons, and with non shift workers. Those who had selected out for health reasons were less healthy than both the other groups but there were no age related effects 163. The healthy worker effect may not be age-related in relation to shift work. Second, the design of shift working is also important: the system of rotation, the nature of the tasks, and the worker's control over those tasks. Experts tend to recommend, as age appropriate, systems which involve

flexibility, rapid forward rotation and earlier start and end times ¹⁵⁹ ¹⁶⁴. Third, overarching organisational factors, such as the possibility of promotion to day shifts with increased seniority, are often age related.

Control and flexibility

There is evidence to suggest that older workers are vulnerable to particular work stressors especially those relating to 'control' at work and similar factors variously called autonomy, decision latitude, influence and so on. These have been the subject of much study. Low control is associated with reduced job satisfaction ¹⁶⁵ and various negative mental and physical health outcomes ⁶² ¹⁶⁶ ¹⁶⁷ ¹³⁷ ¹⁶⁸ ¹⁶⁹ ¹⁴⁵. There is evidence to suggest that perceived job control increases with age (Source: personal communication, Jenny Head, University College London, 'Whitehall II' study) although another study in France reported it to decrease ¹⁷⁰.

Research has suggested that flexibility in work arrangements can beneficially affect the functional capacity and reduce the experience of stress in older workers, particularly those with chronic illnesses ⁶². In similar vein, continued good health is more likely among older workers if provided with choice to engage with the level and type of work that they prefer ¹⁷¹. The European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions conducts periodic surveys of working conditions across Europe and, in the most recent analysis, concluded that work autonomy (control) was positively associated with higher employment rates among older workers ²².

Flexibility is particularly important for older workers since a large number are carers. More people in their 50s than any other group are unpaid carers 172 for older relations and for grandchildren. One in three people are grandparents by the age of 50, and may give up work to care for grandchildren ¹⁷³. Such roles tend not be recognised by employers. Many people work part-time rather than full time because of caring responsibilities and many give up work to become full-time carers. Care giving affects work in the sense that it affects the types of job working carers do 174. Many report lack of flexibility at work can be problematic. But pertinent to this report is the fact that caring is frequently reported as a stressful experience that impacts negatively on the physical and psychological health of the carer 175 176, particularly where the care receiver demonstrates behaviour problems (as opposed to physical and cognitive impairments). The proportion of carers reporting poor health increases as weekly hours of caring rise. Combining work and caring often results in stress, tiredness, lack of personal leisure time and ill-health 172. Many workers are highly committed to both jobs and to their informal caring responsibilities. Because of population trends there is likely to be an increasing need for care for older people and young children ¹⁷⁷ while at the same time the Government is encouraging as many people as possible to enter and to remain in work for as long as possible. This means there will be fewer people available to provide informal care. Clearly there is need for family-friendly and flexible organisational policies that recognise the needs of carers, many of whom are older workers.

Social support

Social networks are the structures through which practical and emotional support and advice can be exchanged. This is often referred to as social support which has long been linked to better health and psychological well-being in the wider population 115 178 105. It is thought that a strong social environment and good social networks at work may provide a buffer against the potentially negative influence of stressful situations. Several studies have suggested this is also the case for older workers 179-181. Where older workers report good relationships with their supervisors or line managers, where managers are knowledgeable about ageing, and where workers are managed in an age appropriate manner, the evidence suggest that those workers are less likely to suffer poor health and are less likely to retire early 132 181. Relationships with colleagues are believed to be particularly important for older workers 180. It has been suggested that interventions that improve social support at work may improve working conditions for older workers' 179 180, particularly, as has been presented in Section 6 of this report, for women.

The actual mechanisms by which support protects people's health at work have not been widely researched, but outside work have received more attention. Social networks outside paid work usually include partners or spouses, relatives, close friends, religious and voluntary group participation. Research has suggested that such networks provide reference groups and a sense of belonging, as well as opportunities for support, assistance and companionship. They may help people cope better with difficult situations and thereby increase their sense of control. In fact some have viewed social support and solidarity as a form of collective control ¹⁸².

Effort and reward

Where older workers experience an imbalance between effort and reward, there is strong evidence for associated mental ill health including depression ¹⁸³. However, while these psychosocial work characteristics have been found to have a significant association with older workers' reported experience of stress and mental health, it would not be true to say that the effects of these stressors are unique to older workers. Such characteristics have frequently been shown to have a detrimental effect on the mental and physical health of workers of all ages. Lack of recognition (reward) and the devaluing behaviours of supervisors have been shown to be a problematic for older workers and a potential cause of stress ¹⁴⁴.

Differences between jobs

The nature of the person's job, along with other facts about an individual related to education and income, combine to form a measure referred to as socioeconomic status. Research with older workers has concluded that lower socioeconomic status is associated with higher levels of stress and depression ¹⁸⁴ ¹⁸⁵. Lower employment grade is associated with poorer mental health in all age groups, but one study noted this effect was particularly strong for older

workers ³⁴, although this is not always the case ⁵⁵. Older workers involved in manual work are more likely to exhibit negative mental health outcomes than older workers involved in non-manual work ¹¹² ¹⁸⁶ ¹⁸⁷ ⁶⁷.

In conclusion, there appear to be a number of themes emerging in relation to psychosocial work characteristics, age and stress which might offer suggestions for interventions. There may be task differences related to older workers' profile of abilities but these effects do not stand alone and may be reduced or eliminated by attention to other factors such as the appropriate design or allocation of work and work equipment, the amount of control that the person has over their work, the support that they receive at work (and outside work) and the recognition that they receive for their efforts.

The literature review yielded no reports, within the specified time frame, of high-quality interventions on stress reduction for older workers. This is an area for further research. However, by reducing exposure to possible damaging work characteristics it may be possible to minimise the experience of stress and thus protect older workers' health. Reducing such exposure early on in working life may be a contributory factor in prolonging working life ¹⁸⁸ 172.

8. Stress and retirement

The two key themes of the literature on retirement and stress among older workers relate to (a) the causal link between stressful work and workforce exit, and (b) whether or not an older worker ceases work voluntarily; this seems to determine whether retirement is beneficial or detrimental to subsequent mental health. There are a variety of patterns of retirement among older workers. They may move from employment to retirement as a result of involuntary (push) factors such as poor health, disability, redundancy or mandatory retirement, or voluntary (pull) factors such as voluntary early retirement, a healthy financial situation or normal retirement age 811 13 ¹⁸⁹. Retirement may be a gradual transition or it may be an abrupt cessation of work. Overall, there is strong evidence that stress is an important factor in all forms of workforce exit, including retirement 13 190-197. Higher stress is associated in a consistent and predictable way with increased likelihood to retire 191. Early retiring men in particular are more likely than their contemporaries in the workforce to have stress-related mental disorders like generalised anxiety disorders and depressive disorders 198 199. In addition, several characteristics of work that are related to workstress are also known to be associated with early exit from the workforce, such as low job autonomy, poor quality of work, long and inflexible working hours, and effort-reward imbalance 12 200 201.

Whether an individual's mental health will improve, decrease, or remain the same after retirement is dependent on other factors including access to finances, personal

health and relationships 202, whether the individual would prefer to be employed or retired 203 204, and whether the choice to retire was made voluntarily or whether it was imposed as a result of health or organisational pressures ²⁰² ²⁰⁵ ⁻²⁰⁷. Therefore, retirement itself probably does not categorically harm or benefit the mental health of older workers 208 209 but can have a positive, negative or no effect, depending on personal circumstances and preferences. Voluntary retirement is associated with a positive effect on stress and mental health of retiring older workers, particularly among those of higher socioeconomic status who are in good health, financially secure and who are in a personal relationship 202 205-207 209. Overall, most research has concluded that voluntary retirement or retirement at the normal retirement age is associated with an improvement in the mental health of older workers 199 210-214, although some evidence suggests that retirement has a negative effect or no effect on older workers' mental health 114 215 216.

9. Recommendations

This review of the literature yielded no reports, within the specific time frame, of high-quality interventions on stress reduction for older workers. Nevertheless, there have been a number of studies and earlier literature reviews on working conditions and work characteristics that might suggest how the design and management of work and work organisations might be more positive for older workers' health 45 56 60 62 94 105 110 131-136 156 171 173 179-181 217 218. There have also been several in-depth reviews in the grey

literature regarding the future of work for older workers, some of which is relevant to the reduction of stress ¹⁴ ¹³² ¹⁷³ ²¹⁹ ²²⁰. It is important to note that such changes will be context dependent and their efficacy remains to be tested. Given the likely time lag between the implementation of change and any measurable reduction in reported stress or health effect, long term initiatives may be needed. It should also be noted that many of the suggested proposals made in Table 1 below to improve the quality of working life for older workers, and to reduce their experience of stress, may have a similarly positive effect on their younger counterparts.

Table 1

Making work more positive for older workers

Control over work

- Give older workers more control over how they do their work
- Give older workers the choice of engaging with the level and type of work that they prefer including any involvement in shift work
- Allow older workers control over the pace of work
- Allow older workers more control over work-rest schedules

Job demands

- Work tasks and demands should be adapted to be age appropriate where necessary in order to maximise the contribution of older workers
- Allow older shift workers to work day shifts rather than night or afternoon shifts, if they wish, to have early starts and to work rapid forward rotating systems where possible
- Reduce the need for on-call duties
- Reduce the need for overtime

Recognition at work

- Improve the balance between work effort and rewards
- Recognise the contribution of older workers

Working hours and flexibility

- Increase the flexibility of work arrangements including making working hours and breaks flexible
- Allow part-time work or daily working hours to be reduced where required
- Allow more flexible task organisation
- Allow extra time for mental and physical recovery where necessary
- Recognise the need for older workers to balance work and home life by offering special leave arrangements where necessary

Social support at work

- Improve management understanding of ageing in the context of work
- Encourage supportive relationships between line managers and older workers
- Encourage a supportive social context to work

The recommendations presented in Table 1 do not cover three important areas which have been addressed elsewhere outside of the current empirical literature on ageing and work-related stress and especially in the policy literature. These areas are: organisational culture, education and training and health promotion. There is a separate literature on the benefits of physical exercise for mental and physical health, and for the continuing work ability of older workers. These are presented in Table 2. In many ways, these three areas might be viewed as providing the context for working.

Table 2

Improving the context of work for older workers

Organisational culture

- Promote an age aware and age tolerant organisational culture
- Promote the unacceptability of both direct and indirect age discrimination

Education and Training

- Educate managers and workers about ageing and its implications for work and health
- Challenge stereotypes about age in the workplace
- Continue to offer job training to older workers ensuring that training methods are age appropriate: criterion based and self paced

Health promotion

- Encourage and support older workers engaging in physical activity and relaxation
- Conduct regular work ability checks and discuss supportive development programmes

In conclusion, older workers form a major part of tomorrow's workforce. Employers are obliged to carry out a sufficient assessment of known risks to their workers' health and safety. The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1992 and 1999 state quite specifically that employers have a responsibility for developing a coherent overall prevention policy which covers technology, organisation of work, working conditions, social relationships and the influence of factors relating to the working environment. This way they can reduce the likelihood of work causing stress and related ill-health.

In the UK, the Health and Safety Executive's recommended way of tackling stress focuses attention on causes of workrelated stress. Their 'Management Standards' describe the characteristics of an organisation where the well known risks for work-related stress are being effectively managed and controlled. They cover six areas of work design that, if not properly managed, are associated with poor health and well-being, lower productivity and increased sickness absence 1: (a) Demands (e.g. workload, work patterns, work environment); (b) Control (how much say the person has in the way they do their work); (c) Support (encouragement, sponsorship and resources provided by the organisation, line management and colleagues); (d) Relationships (this includes promoting positive working to avoid conflict and dealing with unacceptable behaviour); (e) Role (whether people understand their role within the organisation and whether the organisation ensures that they do not have conflicting roles); and (f) Change (how organisational change is managed and communicated in the organisation). There are numerous equivalent ways of addressing these issues. The European Commission has

also published similar guidance ²²¹. By and large, these approaches to the management of work stress have not advocated paying particular attention to any age group, but focus on large-scale risk assessments of groups of workers. Such assessments might be more age-sensitive than have typically been the case to date. However, the reviewed scientific literature in this report would suggest that the issues covered in such general assessments already cover a large proportion of work characteristics that have been shown to be problematic and potentially stressful for older workers.

10. Discussion

Clearly there is something to be learned about older workers' health by exploring the literature on work-related stress, as this review set out to do. But there are other areas of research that might inform the relationship between working conditions and older workers health that are not represented in this review since they do not explicitly deal with the concept of 'stress'. A considerable amount of research also exists that explores variables that might co-vary with stress, and that might use other outcome variables such as employment rates or at how long people are able to work. Three areas of research are relevant and are presented in this final section: (a) the series of studies on 'work ability' from Finland, (b) age discrimination, and (c) worklessness. Finally some areas for future research are suggested.

Probably the most impressive set of research studies with older workers originated in Finland, not ostensibly on stress, but using the concept of 'work ability' 14. The aim of this work was to establish how long workers are able to work and what predicted their ability to continue working. The concept and measurement of 'work ability' includes individual dimensions such as attitudes, motivation and health, as well as organisational variables such as work demands, organisation and management: factors known to be associated with the experience of stress. All seem to play a role, but at work, management behaviour emerges as a strong predictor of continued working ability 222. Other important features of work that seem to mitigate against early retirement are being in a higher occupational grade, having high job control and working in a supportive climate ²²³. The implications for employers from this research, as well as from the research on work-related stress reviewed earlier, would be to focus particularly on the working conditions of workers in lower occupational grades, to maximise the amount of flexibility older workers have over their work and how they carry it out, and to provide as supportive a work environment as possible. However, within such a model, both employer and employee share responsibility for the promotion of work ability, albeit set within wider support systems such as their communities and healthcare providers. It is a combination of lifestyle and work characteristics, together with traditional biomedical factors, that may offer an explanation as to why some people are able work longer than others. In research

emerging from the Finnish work ability model, evidence is also emerging to confirm that the quality of working life has effects *beyond* retirement. Findings from the British 'Whitehall II' study of civil servants also suggest that health and well-being during retirement are determined largely by circumstances during working life ². Such findings would suggest that investments in the length and quality of people's active period in their 'third age' might be made *during* their working life, not just afterwards ¹⁴.

This review did not identify papers on the effects of age discrimination. The experience of discrimination at work is known to be stressful, and to have various negative psychological consequences. However, most research has focused on racial or gender discrimination. Much less is known about the effects of age discrimination, although the research that does exist suggests that perceived discrimination on the basis of age is stressful and can lead to decreases in self-efficacy, organisational commitment, job involvement, job satisfaction and work performance 224. It is thought that this process begins with stereotypes, defined as the set of characteristics a person believes are possessed by a particular social group. Age stereotypes are largely negative, such beliefs are associated with discriminatory attitudes, and those attitudes, in turn, may translate into employment decisions 225-227. The way older workers are perceived and treated in organisations are important factors in making workplaces supportive and attractive for them ²²⁸. Since anti-age discrimination legislation took effect in the UK in 2006, and the consequences for employers might include litigation, more research on this topic may be forthcoming.

It has been established for many years that work is, in general, associated with greater life satisfaction and wellbeing. This is not simply a question of employed persons being healthier and having greater financial security. Even when such variables are taken into account, the relationship between work and well-being remains. Although most research has focused on paid employment, there have also been studies that show those people engaged in voluntary work demonstrate better mental health. It is thought that one possible mechanism might be the social support and companionship offered by work. Studies show that both paid and unpaid work are associated with increased life satisfaction, and that social support is a key factor in explaining this relationship ²²⁹. It is important to note that although there is evidence that work can be harmful to health and that stress may be one linking mechanism, the better alternative may not be no work, but rather better work. The deleterious effects of worklessness have been well documented ²³⁰. One large-scale study tracked 55-66 year olds over time and found that full-time employment and low-level volunteering had independent protective effects against decline in psychological well-being 218. The author suggests that full-time workers may enjoy certain advantages in comparison with their part-time counterparts, such as better compensation, better health and retirement insurance packages, more social support, and relatively higher control at work, which may explain their mental health preservation compared to part-time workers. The beneficial effects of even a modest amount

of volunteering on mental health are established. Several longitudinal studies have shown it to protect against depression or decline in self-reported health in post retirement groups and this is not simply because it is a substitute for paid work ²³¹ ²³². Volunteers have reported they find voluntary work less stressful than paid work ²³³. More recently researchers have begun to explore the positive aspects of work and its health promoting properties ²³⁰ ²³⁴ in addition to the immediately obvious advantages of financial reward. A counterbalance might be provided in future by exploring not just the conditions that deter older workers from work and might harm them at work, but also those that provide them with satisfaction, that enable them to remain productively in work, and that promote an active and healthy third age.

A possible important target for future research should be those in mid-working life: in other words, future older workers. This group seem to report *more* work-related stress than other age groups. Research might focus on further exploration of the reasons for such a finding. This would facilitate the design of interventions to improve this group's working life, to reduce the likelihood of their premature exit from the labour force ²² and to improve their quality of life during retirement. It is established that the health effects of stress may be demonstrated many years after the report of adverse working conditions, suggesting an important role for time and chronicity in the development of stress-related health outcomes ⁸⁶.

As discussed earlier in this report, older women may arguably be a particular focus for more research. The group of workers currently reporting most work-related stress is women aged 45-54 ²⁸: a time of life that coincides with potential significant personal changes such as the menopause and a greater probability of shouldering more domestic and caring responsibilities than men. Women often report more work-related stress than men ²³⁵, and are over represented in low status jobs with little autonomy: work characteristics associated with the development of stress and associated illness. There are known gender differences in the biochemical response to stressors; a better understanding of these and their implications may be helpful in unpacking the relationship between stress and illness in both men and women ¹¹⁷.

Another focus for future work might be the use of a broader array of measures. Much of the more methodologically robust work on the relationship between work and stress has involved very limited measures of work and the working environment – largely 'control' and 'demands'. It might be argued that the rapidly changing world of work requires that we be aware of the possibilities of new risk factors: lack of feedback, unsuitable or non-existent appraisal mechanisms, not feeling 'valued', poor communication with senior management, inappropriate target-setting, a lack of dignity, organisational justice or fairness, and a lack of resources may reflect more contemporary concerns.

Most of the research reviewed in this report has been carried out with older people working in large

organisations. It is widely thought that work-related stress is more common in large organisations than small enterprises. There could be many reasons for this. However, pertinent to our current concerns for older workers, one important factor could be that in small organisations managers may be more in touch with their staff, better acquainted with their personal situations, and more alert to their long standing health conditions than would be managers in large organisations. Such awareness makes providing support more straightforward, and facilitates the flexibility that is required in adapting jobs to accommodate people's changing needs and abilities. A scientific examination of the situation of older workers in small and medium sized enterprises would be helpful.

It is increasingly recognised that a biopsychosocial model accounts for a larger amount of variance in the development of illness than a biomedical model. This is helping to unravel the hitherto intangible processes, the mediating mechanisms which will eventually explain the relationship between work demands and personal characteristics and resources on the one hand, and psychological and physical ill-health on the other. The mechanisms involved in the development of well established stress-related ill-health outcomes such as heart disease, for example, are becoming clearer. Direct activation of neuroendocrine stress pathways and the indirect effects on health behaviours (low physical activity and poor diet in particular) are key factors 102. It is likely that as relevant fields of study evolve, such an understanding will become clearer. This will help to persuade healthcare practitioners, employers and policy-makers of the importance of 'healthy work' to the quality of people's lives, and of the importance of initiatives to reduce stress at work.

It should also be noted that the concept of an 'older worker' as presented in much of the research literature may be inappropriate. First, it certainly varies considerably from mid-40s to mid-60s. Second, it by implication simply refers to such workers as a group who have lived longer than a younger reference group. But third, such research is based entirely on chronological age, rather than on the usual focus of such interest (the real subtext) which is on health and function. A 45 year old may be functionally just as healthy as a 35 year-old. Research tends to refer to older workers as if they are a homogenous group. In fact, the scientific literature notes an increase in variability with age ²³⁶ both in health and in performance. Thus, much research on ageing and work, simply by measuring chronological age, may include a lot of 'noise', may obscure matters, and may not be as helpful in determining policy and practice than it could be. Legislation and policy may not reflect this increased diversity in decisions about suitable retirement ages. History would suggest that such decisions are political and economic, rather than based on the science relating to older workers' health and performance.

In conclusion, it is clearly important to alter expectations of the nature of work towards the end of working life in order to avoid work-related stress and the associated ill-health outcomes. Older workers may still make a very

valuable contribution very late in life, but that contribution, and associated responsibilities, may be different from that undertaken earlier 236. More research is needed to describe the type of work (and the way that work is organised) that is particularly suitable for older people, that does not overtax their mental or physical health and that in particular affords them a healthy work-life balance ²²⁸. This review has highlighted some of the aspects of work that may be particularly harmful for older workers. It tells us less about the type of work that is particularly suitable and enjoyable and that would make it easier for older workers to stay on at work if they wished to do so. There are many different forms of work that may offer the flexibility older workers need and these should be explored further: parttime work, job shares, flexible working hours, transfer to a les demanding job, special leave options, time off in lieu, career breaks, as well as self-employment and consultancy options. All might be explored in a move forward where the talents and skills of older workers are no longer unnecessarily lost to the labour pool because of workrelated or other pressures and stress.

But perhaps the most important message is that as well as focusing on designing and managing work that is suitable for workers aged 60 and over, employers might do well to focus on workers in their 40s and 50s, as workers in this age group often report the highest levels of work-related stress. Investing time in making work more attractive and enjoyable for tomorrow's older workers, and to explore their particular difficulties at work, may well pay dividends by protecting their health and extending working life. This should be a priority, particularly since it is clear that the quality of working life can also impact on the health and well-being after retirement. Investments in the length and quality of people's active period in their 'third age' might be made during their working life, not just afterwards.

References

- **1.** Health and Safety Executive. Work-related stress health and safety in the workplace, 2009.
- 2. Council of Civil Services Unions/Cabinet Office. Work, stress and health: The Whitehall II study, 2004.
- 3. Cox T, Griffiths A, Rial-Gonzalez E. Work-related stress. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2000.
- Griffiths A. Designing and managing healthy work for older workers. Occupational Medicine 2000;50(7):473-477.
- Ilmarinen J. Ageing worker in the European Union: Status and promotion of work ability, employability and employment. Helsinki, Finland: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, 1999.
- **6.** Ilmarinen J. The ageing workforce Challenges for occupational health. *Occupational Medicine* 2006;56(6):361-364.
- Mein G, Martikainen, P., Stansfeld, S., Brunner, E., Fuhrer, R., Marmot, M. Predictors of early retirement in British civil servants. *Age and Aging* 2000;29:529-536.
- **8.** Taylor M, Shore,. L. Predictors of planned retirement age: An application of Beehr's model. *Psychology and Aging* 1995;10(1):76-83.
- Quinn J, Burkhauser, R. Retirement and Labor Force Behavior of the Elderly. In: Martin L, Preston, S,. editor. Demography of Aging. Washington, D.C: National Academy Press, 1994.
- **10.** Barnes H, J. P, Taylor R. Working after state pension age: Qualitative research. London: DWP, 2004.
- **11.** Shultz K, Morton, K., Weckerle, J. The influence of push and pull factors on voluntary and involuntary early retirees' retirement decision and adjustment. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour* **1998**;53:45-57.
- **12.** Phillipson C. Transitions from work to retirement: Developing a new social contract. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2002.
- **13.** Phillipson C, Smith A. Extending working life: A review of the research literature. London, UK: DWP, 2005.
- 14. Ilmarinen J. Work ability: A comprehensive concept for occupational health research and prevention. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health* 2009;35(1):1-5.
- **15.** Doyal L, Payne S. Older women, work and health: Reviewing the evidence. London: Help the Aged/TAEN, 2006.
- **16.** Granville G, Evandrou M. Older men, work and health: Reviewing the evidence. London: Help the Aged/TAEN, 2008.
- **17.** Barnes-Farrell JL, Piotrowski MJ. Discrepancies between chronological age and personal age as a reflection of unrelieved worker stress. *Work & Stress* 1991;5(3):177-187.
- **18.** Iskra-Golec I. Personal age and assessment of work stress in Polish nurses. *Experimental Aging Research* 2002;28(1):51-58.
- 19. Tuomi K, Ilmarinen J, Seitsamo J, Huuhtanen P,

- Martikainen R, Nygard CH, et al. Summary of the Finnish research project (1981-1992) to promote the health and work ability of aging workers. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health* 1997;23(S1):66-71.
- 20. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Assessment of work ability and vitality - A study of teachers of different age groups. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- 21. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Work ability and perceived work stress. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- **22.** European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. *Working conditions of an ageing workforce*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2008.
- **23.** Barling J, Griffiths, A. A history of occupational health psychology. In: Quick J, Tetrick, L., editor. *Handbook of occupational health psychology.* 2nd ed. Washington, D.C: American Psychological Association, 2009.
- **24.** Vedhara K, Irwin, M. *Human psychoneuroimmunology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- 25. Cox T. Stress. London: Macmillan, 1978.
- **26.** Dewe P. Applying the concept of appraisal to work stressors: some exploratory analyses. *Human Relations* Human Relations;45:143-164.
- **27.** Cooper CL, Marshall, J. Occupational sources of stress: A review of the literature relating to coronary heart disease and mental health. *Journal of Occupational Psychology* 1976;49:11-28.
- **28.** Health and Safety Executive. Self-reported work-related illness (SWI) and workplace injuries (LFS), 2009.
- **29.** Siegrist J. Place, social exchange and health: proposed sociological framework. *Social Science & Medicine* 2000:1283-1293.
- **30.** Siegrist J. Adverse health effects of high effort low reward conditions at work. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 1996;1:27-43.
- **31.** University of Manchester. THOR: The Health and Occupation Reporting Network, 2009.
- **32.** Rosenberger P, Jokl, P., Ickovics, J. Psychosocial factors and surgical outcomes: an evidence-based literature review. *Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons* 2006;14:397-405.
- **33.** HMSO. The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations: Approved Code of Practice & Guidance (1999) London: The Stationery Office, 1999.
- **34.** Chandola T, Ferrie J, Sacker A, Marmot M. Social inequalities in self reported health in early old age: follow-up of prospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 2007;334(7601):990-993B.
- **35.** Chen HC, Chou FHC, Chen MC, Su SF, Wang SY, Feng WW, et al. A survey of quality of life and depression for police officers in Kaohsiung, Taiwan. *Quality of Life Research* 2006;15(5):925-932.
- 36. Gellis ZD, Kim JC. Predictors of depressive mood, occupational stress, and propensity to leave in older and younger mental health case managers. Community Mental Health Journal 2004;40(5):407-421.

- **37.** Kumashiro M. Productive aging with ergonomics intervention: Break down the barriers of the present hiring policy for older workers. In: Kumashiro M, editor. *The Paths to Productive Aging*. London: Taylor and Francis, 1995.
- **38.** Lee I, Wang H. Perceived occupational stress and related factors in public health nurses. *Journal of Nursing Research* 2002;10(4):253-260.
- **39.** Letvak S. Health and safety of older nurses. *Nursing Outlook* 2005;53(2):66-72.
- **40.** Lindholm JA, Szelényi K. Faculty time stress: correlates within and across academic disciplines. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 2008* 2008;17(1-2):19-40.
- **41.** McDonough P. Job insecurity and health. *International Journal of Health Services* 2000;30(3):453-476.
- **42.** Neupert SD, Almeida DM, Charles ST. Age differences in reactivity to daily stressors: the role of personal control. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences* 2007;62B(4):216-225.
- **43.** Patrick K, Lavery JF. Burnout in nursing. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2007;24(3):43-48.
- **44.** Randall KJ. Examining the relationship between burnout and age among Anglican clergy in England and Wales. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture* 2007;10(1):39-46.
- **45.** Reijula K, Rasanen K, Hamalainen M, Juntunen K, Lindbohm ML, Taskinen H, et al. Work environment and occupational health of Finnish veterinarians. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2003;44(1):46-57.
- **46.** Shimizu T, Hiro M, Mishima N, Nagata S. Job stress among Japanese full-time occupational physicians. *Journal of Occupational Health* 2002;44(5):348-354.
- **47.** Siu O, Cooper CL, Spector PE, Donald I. Age differences in coping and locus of control: a study of managerial stress in Hong Kong. *Psychology & Aging* 2001;16(4):707-710.
- **48.** Soler JK, Yaman H, Esteva M, Dobbs F, Asenova RS, Katic M, et al. Burnout in European family doctors: the EGPRN study. *Family Practice* 2008;25(4):245-265.
- **49.** Stewart DE, Ahmad F, Cheung AM, Bergman B, Dell DL. Women physicians and stress. *Journal of Women's Health & Gender-Based Medicine* 2000;9(2):185-190.
- **50.** Tuuli P, Karisalmi S. Impact Of Working Life Quality On Burnout. *Experimental Aging Research* 1999;25(4):441-449.
- 51. van den Berg TIJ, Alavinia SM, Bredt FJ, Lindeboom D, Elders LAM, Burdorf A. The influence of psychosocial factors at work and life style on health and work ability among professional workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health* 2008;81(8):1029-1036.
- **52.** Villamil E, Huppert FA, Melzer D. Low prevalence of depression and anxiety is linked to statutory retirement ages rather than personal work exit: a national survey. *Psychological Medicine* 2006;36(7):999-1009.
- **53.** Wei C-N, Miyakita T, Harada K, Ohmori S, Ueda A. Determinants of life satisfaction among Japanese agricultural workers. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine* 2000;5(1):25-30.

- **54.** Winefield HR, Anstey TJ. Job stress in general practice: practitioner age, sex and attitudes as predictors. *Family Practice* 1991;8(2):140-144.
- **55.** Deschamps F, Paganon-Badinier I, Marchand AC, Merle C. Sources and assessment of occupational stress in the police. *Journal of Occupational Health* 2003;45(6):358-364.
- 56. Grosch JW, Caruso CC, Rosa RR, Sauter SL. Long hours of work in the US: Associations with demographic and organizational characteristics, psychosocial working conditions, and health. American Journal of Industrial Medicine 2006;49(11):943-952.
- **57.** Kirkcaldy BD, Martin T. Job stress and satisfaction among nurses: individual differences. *Stress Medicine* 2000;16(2):77-89.
- 58. Landa JMA, Lopez-Zafra E, Martos MPB, Aguilar-Luzon MDC. The relationship between emotional intelligence, occupational stress and health in nurses: A questionnaire survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2008;45(6):888-901.
- **59.** Reissman DB, Orris P, Lacey R, Hartman DE. Downsizing, role demands, and job stress. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 1999;41(4):289-293.
- 60. Walker R, Cleverely S, Adeyanju. M. Differences in male fire-fighters' stress and 14 sources of occupational stress based on the years of job experience, age, and location of fire department. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport 1999;70(S1):A47.
- **61.** Blood GW, Blood RT, Hammer CS, Qualls CD.
 Occupational stress in speech-language pathologists working in healthcare settings. *Journal of Medical Speech-Language Pathology* 2002;10(3):201-212.
- **62.** Eskelinen L, Toikkanen J, Tuomi K, Mauno I, Nygard CH, Klockars M, et al. Work-related stress symptoms of aging employees in municipal occupations. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 1991;17(51):87-93.
- **63.** Birdi K, Warr P, Oswald A. Age differences in three components of employee well-being. *Applied Psychology An International Review* 1995;44(4):345-373.
- **64.** Kenney JW. Women's 'inner-balance': a comparison of stressors, personality traits and health problems by age groups. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2000;31(3):639-650.
- **65.** Koopmans PC, Roelen CAM, Groothoff JW. Sickness absence due to depressive symptoms. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health* 2008;81(6):711-719.
- **66.** Hensing G, Wahlstrom R. Sickness absence and psychiatric disorders. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 2004;32:152-180.
- 67. Eskelinen L, Toikkanen J, Tuomi K, Mauno I, Nygard CH, Ilmarinen J. Symptoms of mental and physical stress in different categories of municipal work. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 1991;17(S1):82-86.
- **68.** Garrosa E, Moreno-Jiménez B, Liang Y, González JL. The relationship between socio-

- demographic variables, job stressors, burnout, and hardy personality in nurses: an exploratory study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2006;45(3):418-427.
- **69.** Jorm AF, Windsor TD, Dear KB, Anstey KJ, Christensen H, Rodgers B. Age group differences in psychological distress: the role of psychosocial risk factors that vary with age. *Psychological Medicine* 2005;35(9):1253-1263.
- **70.** Ferraro KF. Self-ratings of health among the old and the old-old. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 1980;20:45-51.
- **71.** Idler EL. Age differences in self-assessments of health: Age changes, cohort differences, or survivorship. *Journal of Gerontology* 1993;48:S289-300.
- **72.** Shmueli A. Socio-economic and demographic variation in health and in its measures:the issue of reporting heterogeneity. *Social Science & Medicine* 2003;57:125-134.
- **73.** Lindeboom M, van Doorslaer E. Cut-point shift and index shift in self-reported health. *Journal of Health Economics* 2004;23:1083-1099.
- 74. Atchley R. The life course, age grading and age-linked demands for decision making. In: Dean N, Ginsberg L, editors. Life span developmental psychology: Normative life crises. New York: Academic Press, 1975:261-278.
- **75.** Neugarten BL, Moore JW, Lowe JC. Age norms, age constraints and adult socialization. In: Neugarten BL, editor. *Middle Age and Aging*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1968:22-28.
- **76.** Maddox GL. Some correlates of differences in self-assessment of health status among the elderly. *Journal of Gerontology* 1962;17:180-185.
- 77. Shanas E, Maddox GL. Aging, health and the organization of health resources. In: Binstook R, Shanas E, editors. Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1976:592-618.
- **78.** Heyink J. Adaptation and wellbeing. *Psychological Reports* 1993;73:1331-1342.
- **79.** Groot QW. Adaptation and scale of reference bias in self-assessments of quality of life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 2000;20:45-51.
- **80.** Hendel DD, Horn AS. The relationship between academic life conditions and perceived sources of faculty stress over time. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment* 2008;17(1-2):61-88.
- **81.** Blythe J, Baumann A, Zeytinoglu IU, Denton M, Akhtar-Danesh N, Davies S, et al. Nursing generations in the contemporary workplace. *Public Personnel Management* 2008;37(2):137-159.
- **82.** Abramson JH, Gofin J, Habib J, Noam G, Kark JD. Work satisfaction and health in the middle-aged and elderly. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1994;23(1):98-106.
- **83.** Abramson JH, Ritter M, Gofin J, Kark JD. Work health relationships in middle-aged and elderly residents of a Jerusalem community. *Social Science & Medicine* 1992;34(7):747-755.

- **84.** Miller BK, Rutherford MA, Kolodinsky RW. Perceptions of organizational politics: A meta-analysis of outcomes. *Journal of Business and Psychology* 2008;22(3):209-222.
- **85.** Clark A, Oswald A, Warr P. Is job satisfaction U-shaped in age? *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology* 1996;69(1):57-81.
- **86.** Ohman L, Bergdahl J, Nyberg L, Nilsson LG. Longitudinal analysis of the relation between moderate long-term stress and health. *Stress and Health* 2007;23(2):131-138.
- **87.** Salonen PH, Arola H, Nygård C, Huhtala H. Long-term associations of stress and chronic diseases in ageing and retired employees. *Psychology, Health & Medicine* 2008;13(1):55-62.
- 88. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Age related work load a work environment intervention with a life course perspective. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- **89.** Andre-Petersson L, Engstrom G, Hedblad B, Janzon L, Rosvall M. Social support at work and the risk of myocardial infarction and stroke in women and men. *Social Science & Medicine* 2007;64(4):830-841.
- **90.** Chapman A, Mandryk JA, Frommer MS, Edye BV, Ferguson DA. Chronic perceived work stress and blood pressure among Australian government employees. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 1990;16(4):258-269.
- 91. Clays E, Leynen F, De Backer D, Kornitzer M, Kittel F, Karasek R, et al. High job strain and ambulatory blood pressure in middle-aged men and women from the Belgian job stress study. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2007;49(4):360-367.
- **92.** Jillings C. Many patients with coronary heart disease believed that stress and lifestyle factors caused their illness. *Evidence-Based Nursing* 2008;11(4):127.
- **93.** Öhlin B, Berglund G, Rosvall M, Nilsson PM. Job strain in men, but not in women, predicts a significant rise in blood pressure after 6.5 years of follow-up. *Journal of Hypertension* 2007;25(3):525-531.
- 94. Ritvanen T, Louhevaara V, Helin P, Vaisanen S, Hanninen O. Responses of the autonomic nervous system during periods of perceived high and low work stress in younger and older female teachers. *Applied Ergonomics* 2006;37(3):311-318.
- 95. Theorell T, Tsutsumi A, Hallquist J, Reuterwall C, Hogstedt C, Fredlund P, et al. Decision latitude, job strain, and myocardial infarction: a study of working men in Stockholm. The SHEEP Study Group. Stockholm Heart Epidemiology Program. *American Journal of Public Health* 1998;88:382–388.
- 96. Tsutsumi A, Kayaba K, Tsutsumi K, Igarashi M. Association between job strain and prevalence of hypertension: A cross sectional analysis in a Japanese working population with a wide range of occupations: The Jichi Medical School cohort study. Occupational & Environmental Medicine 2001;58(6):367-373.
- **97.** Yamasue K, Hayashi T, Ohshige K, O. T, Souma T. Masked hypertension in elderly managerial

- employees and retirees. *Clinical & Experimental Hypertension* 2008;30(3):203-211.
- **98.** Gershon RR, Lin S, Li X. Work stress in aging police officers. *Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2002;44(2):160-167.
- 99. Naslindh-Ylispangar A, Sihvonen M, Sarna S, Kekki P. Health status, symptoms and health counselling among middle-aged men: comparison of men at low and high risk. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences* 2008;22(4):529-535.
- 100. Yip Y, Ho SC, Chan SG. Socio-psychological stressors as risk factors for low back pain in Chinese middle-aged women. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2001;36(3):409-416.
- **101.**Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts, D., Miller, G. Psychological stress and disease. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2007;298(14):1685-1687.
- **102.** Chandola T, Britton A, Brunner E, Hemingway H, Malik M, Kumari M, et al. Work stress and coronary heart disease: what are the mechanisms? *European Heart Journal* 2008;29:640-648.
- **103.** Akerstedt T, Knutsson A, Westerholm P, Theorell T, Alfredsson L, Kecklund G. Sleep disturbances, work stress and work hours: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 2002;53(3):741-748.
- **104.** Jansson-Frojmark M, Lundqvist D, Lundqvist N, Linton SJ. Psychosocial work stressors for insomnia: a prospective study on 50-60-year-old adults in the working population. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 2007;14(4):222-228.
- 105. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Need for recovery in ageing workers. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- 106. Kiss P, De Meester M, Braeckman L. Differences between younger and older workers in the need for recovery after work. *International Archives* of Occupational and Environmental Health 2008;81(3):311-320.
- **107.** Winwood PC, Winefield AH, Lushington K. Work-related fatigue and recovery: The contribution of age, domestic responsibilities and shiftwork. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2006;56(4):438-449.
- **108.** Pattani S, Constantinovici N, Williams S. Who retires early from the NHS because of ill health and what does it cost? A national cross sectional study. *British Medical Journal* 2001;332:208-209.
- **109.** Poole C. Retirement on grounds of ill-health: Cross sectional survey in six organisations in United Kingdom. *British Medical Journal* 1997;314:929-932.
- **110.** Huuhtanen P, Nygard CH, Tuomi K, Martikainen R. Changes in stress symptoms and their relationship to changes at work in 1981-1992 among elderly workers in municipal occupations. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 1997;23(S1):36-48.
- **111.** Bednar A, Marshall C, Bahouth S. Identifying the relationship between work and nonwork stress among bank managers. *Psychological Reports* 1995;77(3 Pt 1):1-7.
- **112.** Fors S, Lennartsson C, Lundberg O. Health inequalities among older adults in Sweden 1991-2002. *European*

- Journal of Public Health 2007;18(2):138-143.
- **113.** McDonough P, Stronschein L. Age and the gender gap in distress. *Women & Health* 2003;38(1):1-20.
- **114.** Richardson VE, Kilty KM. Gender differences in mental health before and after retirement A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Women & Aging* 1995;7(1-2):19-35.
- 115. McManus S, Meltzer H, Brugha T, Bebbington P, Jenkins R. Adult psychiatric morbidity in England 2007: Results of a household survey. London: National Centre for Social Research, 2009.
- 116. Ahola K, Honkonen T, Isometsa E, Kalimo R, Nykyri E, Koskinen S, et al. Burnout in the general population
 Results from the Finnish Health 2000 Study. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 2006;41(1):11-17.
- **117.** Frankenhauser M. The psychophysiology of workload, stress and health: Comparison between the sexes. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 1991;3:197-204.
- **118.**Lombardi E, P. U. Work conditions, mastery and psychological distress: Are housework and paid work context conceptually similar? *Women and Health* 1997;26:17-39.
- **119.** Walstedt J. Employment patterns and health among U.S. working women. In: Goldman MB, Hatch MC, editors. *Women and Health*. San Diego: Academic Press, 2001:447-455.
- **120.** Bird CE, Fremont AM. Gender, time use and health. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour* 1991;32:114-129.
- **121.**Kim H. Do employed and non-employed Korean mothers experience different levels of psychological wellbeing in relation to their gender role attitudes and role qualities? *Sex Roles* 1998;38:915-932.
- **122.** Tamer LK, Janicki D, Helgeson VS. Sex differences in coping behaviour: A meta- analytic review and an examination of relative coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 2002;6(1):2-30.
- **123.** Tamres LK, Janicki D, Helgeson VS. Sex differences in coping behaviour: A meta-analytic review and an examination of relative coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 2002;6(1):2-30.
- **124.** Achat H, Kawachi I, Levine S, Berkey C, Coakley E, Colditz G. Social networks, stress and health-related quality of life. *Quality of Life Research* 1998;7(8):735-750.
- **125.** European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. *Gender issues in Health and Safety at Work.* Luxembourg: European Community, 2002.
- **126.** Messing K. *One-eyed science: Occupational health and women workers.* Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1998.
- **127.** Messing K, Punnett L, Bond M, Alexandersoin K, Pyle J, Zahm S, et al. Be the fairest of them all: Challenges and recommendations for the treatment of gender in occupational health research. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2003;43:618-629.
- **128.**Östlin P, Eckermann E, Mishra US, Nkowane M, Wallstam E. Gender and health promotion: A multisectoral policy approach. *Health Promotion International* 2006;21:21-35.

- **129.** Cassou B, Mandereau L, Aegerter P, Touranchet A, Derriennic F. Work-related factors associated with age at natural menopause in a generation of French gainfully employed women. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2007;166(4):429-438.
- **130.** Deane R, Chummun H, Prashad D. Differences in urinary stress hormones in male and female nurses at different ages. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2002;37(3):304-310.
- 131. Ilmarinen J. Promoting the health and well-being of the older worker: The Finnish experience. In: Widdecombe A, Baroness Cumberlege, editors. Investing in older people at work. Contributions, case studies and recommendations; A symposium for employers, policy makers and health professionals from Europe 11-13 October 1993. London, UK: Health Education Authority, 1994:90-104.
- 132. Ilmarinen J, Tuomi K, Eskelinen L, Nygard CH, Huuhtanen P, Klockars M. Summary and recommendations of a project involving cross-sectional and follow-up studies on the aging worker in Finnish municipal occupations (1981-1985). Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health 1991;17(S1):135-141.
- **133.** Walker A, Taylor P. *Ageing at work: The European perspective.* Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 1993.
- **134.** Boyes L, McCormick J. A coming of age Experiences of work and sustaining workability. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation., 2005.
- **135.** Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Some considerations about aging, shift work and work ability. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- **136.** Silverstein M. Meeting the challenges of an aging workforce. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2008;51(4):269-280.
- **137.** Stansfeld SA, Clark C, Caldwell T, Rodgers B, Power C. Psychosocial work characteristics and anxiety and depressive disorders in midlife: the effects of prior psychological distress. *Occupational & Environmental Medicine* 2008;65(9):634-642.
- **138.** Clays E, De Bacquer D, Eynen FL, Kornitzer M, Kittel F, De Backer G. Job stress and depression symptoms in middle-aged workers prospective results from the Belstress study. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 2007;33(4):252-259.
- **139.** Stansfeld SA, Fuhrer R, Shipley MJ, Marmot MG. Work characteristics predict psychiatric disorder: prospective results from the Whitehall II study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 1999;56(5):302-307.
- **140.** Griffiths A. Ageing, health and productivity: a challenge for the new millennium. *Work & Stress* 1997;11(3):197-214.
- **141.** UNUM. Age Old Concerns Are we wasting the potential of older workers? Dorking, Surrey: UNUM, 2008.
- **142.** Salthouse TA, Hambrick DZ, McGuthry KE. Shared age-related influences on cognitive and noncognitive variables. *Psychology and Aging* 1998;13(3):486-500.

- **143.** Perfect TJ, Maylor EA. *Models of cognitive aging*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- 144. Kloimuller I, Karazman R, Geissler H. How do stress impacts change with aging in the profession of bus drivers? Results from a questionnaire survey on 'health and competition' among bus drivers in a public transport system in 1996. In: Seppala P, Luopajarvi T, Nygard C-H, Mattila M, editors. From Experience to Innovation: Volume V. Helsinki, Finland: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, 1997:454-456.
- **145.** Ilmarinen J. A new concept for productive aging at work. In: Bittner AC, Champney PC, editors. *Advances in Industrial Ergonomics and Safety VII*. London: Taylor & Francis, 1995.
- **146.** Brand JE, Levy BR, Gallo WT. Effects of layoffs and plant closings on subsequent depression among older workers. *Research on Aging* 2008;30(6):701-721.
- 147. Gallo WT, Bradley EH, Dubin JA, Jones RN, Falba TA, Teng H, et al. The persistence of depressive symptoms in older workers who experience involuntary job loss: results from the Health and Retirement Survey. Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences 2006;61B(4):S221-228.
- **148.** Gallo WT, Bradley EH, Siegel M, Kasl SV. Health effects of involuntary job loss among older workers: findings from the Health and Retirement Survey. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences* 2000;55B(3):S131-140.
- 149. Gallo WT, Bradley EH, Teng HM, Kasl SV. The effect of recurrent involuntary job loss on the depressive symptoms of older US workers. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health* 2006;80(2):109-116.
- **150.** Sluiter JK, Frings-Dresen MH. What do we know about ageing at work? Evidence-based fitness for duty and health in fire fighters. *Ergonomics* 2007;50(11):1897-1913.
- **151.** Sharit J, Czaja SJ, Nair SN, Hoag DW, Leonard DC, Dilsen EK. Subjective experiences of stress, workload, and bodily discomfort as a function of age and type of computer work. *Work & Stress* 1998;12(2):125-144.
- **152.** Schroeder DH, Salthouse TA. Age-related effects on cognition between 20 and 50 years of age. *Personality and Individual Differences* 2004;36:393-404.
- **153.** Griffiths A. Healthy work for older workers: work design and management factors. In: Loretto W, Vickerstaff, S, White, P., editor. *The future for older workers: New perspectives*. Bristol: Policy Press, 2007:121-137.
- **154.** Kowalski-Trakofler K, Steiner, L. Schwerha, D. . Safety considerations for the aging workforce. *Safety Science* 2005;43(10):779-793.
- **155.** Hedge J, Borman, W., Lammlein, S. *The aging workforce: Realities myths and implications for organisations*. Washington DC: American Psychological Association, 2006.
- **156.** Volkoff S, Pueyo V. How do elderly workers face tight time constraints? *International Congress Series* 2005;1280:17-22.

- **157.**Conway PM, Campanini P, Sartori S, Dotti R, Costa G. Main and interactive effects of shiftwork, age and work stress on health in an Italian sample of healthcare workers. *Applied Ergonomics* 2008;39(5):630-639.
- **158.** Brugere D, Barrit J, Butat C, Cosset M, Volkoff S. Shift work, age and health: An epidemiologic investigation. *International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health* 1997;3:S15-19.
- **159.** Harma M, Kandolin I. Shift work, age and well-being: Recent developments and future perspectives. *Japanese Journal of Ergology* 2001;30:287-293.
- **160.** Keran C, Duchon JC. Age differences in the adjustment to shift work. *Proceedings of Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*. New York: Human Factors and Ergonomics Society, 1999:182-185.
- **161.** De Zwart BCH, Meijman TF. The aging shiftworker: Adjustment or selection. A review of the combined effects of aging and shiftwork. In: Snel J, Cremer R, editors. Work and Aging: A European Perspective. London. London: Taylor & Francis, 1994:107-120.
- **162.** Frese M, Okonet K. Reasons to leave shiftwork and psychological and psychosomatic complaints of former shiftworkers. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 1984;69:509-514.
- **163.** Frese M, Semmer N. Shiftwork, stress and psychosomatic complaints: A comparison between shift workers on different shiftwork schedules, non shiftworkers and former shiftworkers. *Ergonomics* 1986;29:99-114.
- 164. Harma M, Hakola T, Kandolin I, Sallinen M, Virkkala J, Bonnefond A, et al. A controlled intervention study on the effects of a very rapidly forward rotating shift system on sleep-wakefulness and well-being among young and elderly shift workers. *International Journal of Psychophysiology* 2006;59(1):70-79.
- **165.** Peulet J-P. Ageing and work in Europe. Dublin, Ireland: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2004.
- 166. Becker AB, Israel BA, Schulz AJ, Parker EA, Klem L. Age differences in health effects of stressors and perceived control among urban African American women. Journal of Urban Health Bulletin of The New York Academy of Medicine 2005;82(1):122-141.
- 167. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors. Psychosocial work environment, well being and emotional exhaustion. A study comparing five age groups of female workers within the human sector. Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- **168.** Wahrendorf M, Ribet C, Zins M, Siegrist J. Social productivity and depressive symptoms in early old age Results from the GAZEL study. *Aging & Mental Health* 2008;12(3):310-316.
- **169.** Wickrama KAS, Lorenz FO, Fang SA, Abraham WT, Elder GH. Gendered trajectories of work control and health outcomes in the middle years A perspective from the rural midwest. *Journal of Aging & Health* 2005;17(6):779-806.

- **170.** Niezborala M, Marquie J-C, Baracat B, Esquirol Y, Soulat J-M. Job stress and occupational status in a French cohort. *Revue d'Epidemiologie et de Sante Publique* 2003;51(6):607-616.
- **171.** Herzog AR, House JS, Morgan JN. Relation of Work and Retirement to Health and Well-Being in Older Age. *Psychology and Aging* 1991;6(2):202-211.
- **172.** Hirsch D. Crossroads after 50: Improving choices in work and retirement. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2003.
- **173.** Ford G. Am I still needed? Guidance and learning for older adults. Derby, UK: Centre for Guidance Studies, University of Derby, 2005.
- **174.** Yeandle S, Bennett C, Buckner L, Fry G, Price C. Managing caring and employment. *CES Report Series*. London, UK: Carers UK, 2007.
- **175.** Phillips J, Bernard M, Chittenden M. Juggling work and care: the experiences of working carers of older adults. Bristol, UK: The Policy Press, 2002.
- **176.** Pinquart M, Sörensen S. Differences between caregivers and noncaregivers in psychological health and physical health: A meta-analysis. *Psychology and Aging* 2003;18(2):250-267.
- **177.** Mooney A, Statham J. The Pivot Generation: Informal Care and Work after Fifty. Bristol, UK: The Policy Press, 2002.
- **178.** Ganster DC, Fusilier MR, Mayes BT. Role of social support in the experience of stress at work. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 1986;71(1):102-110.
- **179.** Freeborn DK. Satisfaction, commitment, and psychological well-being among HMO physicians. *Western Journal Of Medicine* 2001;174(1):13-18.
- **180.** Robson SM, Hansson RO. Strategic self development for successful aging at work. *International Journal of Aging & Human Development* 2007;64(4):331-359.
- **181.**Tuomi K, Ilmarinen J, Klockars M, Nygard C-H, Seitsamo J, Huuhtanen P, et al. Finnish research project on aging workers in 1981-1992. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 1997;23(S1):7-11
- **182.** Johnson JV. Collective control: strategies for survival in the workplace. *International Journal of Health Services* 1989;19(3):469-480.
- **183.** Pikhart H, Bobak M, Pajak A, Malyutina S, Kubinova R, Topor R, et al. Psychosocial factors at work and depression in three countries of Central and Eastern Europe. *Social Science & Medicine* 2004;58(8):1475-1482.
- **184.** Demakakos P, Nazroo J, Breeze E, Marmot M. Socioeconomic status and health: The role of subjective social status. *Social Science & Medicine* 2008;67(2):330-340.
- **185.** Wege N, Dragano N, Erbel R, Jockel K, Moebus S, Stang A, et al. When does work stress hurt? Testing the interaction with socioeconomic position in the Heinz Nixdorf Recall Study. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 2008;62(4):338-343.
- **186.** Petersen JS, Zwerling C. Comparison of health outcomes among older construction and blue-collar employees in the United States. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1998;34(3):280-287.

- **187.** Christ SL, Lee DJ, Fleming LE, LeBlanc WG, Arheart KL, Chung-Bridges K, et al. Employment and occupation effects on depressive symptoms in older Americans: does working past age 65 protect against depression? *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences* 2007;62B(6):S399-403.
- **188.** Hirsch D. Sustaining working lives: A framework for policy and practice. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2005.
- **189.** Banks J, Smith S. Retirement in the UK. Oxford Review of Economic Policy 2006;22(1):40-56.
- 190. Alavinia SM, Burdorf A. Unemployment and retirement and ill-health: a cross-sectional analysis across European countries. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 2008;82(1):39-45.
- **191.** Andrews J, Manthorpe J, Watson R. Employment transitions for older nurses: A qualitative study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2005;51(3):298-306.
- **192.** Doshi JA, Cen L, Polsky D. Depression and retirement in late middle-aged U.S. workers. *Health Services Research* 2008;43(2):693-713.
- 193. Harkonmäki K, Lahelma E, Martikainen P, Rahkonen O, Silventoinen K. Mental health functioning (SF-36) and intentions to retire early among ageing municipal employees: the Helsinki Health Study. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health 2006;34(2):190-198.
- 194. Karpansalo M, Kauhanen J, Lakka TA, Manninen P, Kaplan GA, Salonen JT. Depression and early retirement: prospective population based study in middle aged men. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 2005;59(1):70-74.
- **195.** Pransky GS, Benjamin KL, Savageau JA. Early retirement due to occupational injury: Who is at risk? *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2005;47(4):285-295.
- **196.** Rambur B, Palumbo MV, McIntosh B, Thomas C. A cross-disciplinary statewide healthcare workforce analysis. *Journal of Allied Health* 2008;37(2):105-109.
- **197.** Salonen P, Arola H, Nygard CH, Huhtala H, Koivisto AM. Factors associated with premature departure from working life among ageing food industry employees. *Occupational Medicine* 2003;53(1):65-68.
- **198.** Buxton JW, Singleton N, Melzer D. The mental health of early retirees National interview survey in Britain. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 2005;40(2):99-105.
- 199. Melzer D, Buxton J, Villamil E. Decline in common mental disorder prevalence in men during the sixth decade of life - Evidence from the National Psychiatric Morbidity Survey. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 2004;39(1):33-38.
- **200.** Blekesaune M, Solem PE. Working conditions and early retirement: a prospective study of retirement behavior. *Research on Aging* 2005;27(1):3-30.
- **201.** Siegrist J, Wahrendorf M, von dem Knesebeck O, Jürges H, Börsch-Supan A. Quality of work, wellbeing, and intended early retirement of older employees baseline results from the share study. *European Journal of Public Health* 2006;17(1):62-68.

- **202.** van Solinge H, Henkens K. Adjustment to and satisfaction with retirement: Two of a kind? *Psychology & Aging* 2008;23(2):422-434.
- 203. Warr P, Butcher V, Robertson I, Callinan M. Older people's well-being as a function of employment, retirement, environmental characteristics and role preference. *British Journal of Psychology* 2004;95(297-324).
- **204.** Falba TA. Work expectations, realizations and depression in older workers. Cambridge, USA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2008.
- **205.** Calvo E, Haverstick K, Sass SA. Gradual retirement, sense of control, and retirees' happiness. *Research on Aging* 2009;31(1):112-135.
- 206. Isaksson K, Johansson G. Adaptation to continued work and early retirement following downsizing: Long-term effects and gender differences. *Journal* of Occupational & Organizational Psychology 2000;73(2):241-256.
- **207.** Sharpley CF, Layton R. Effects of age of retirement, reason for retirement, and pre-retirement training on psychological and physical health during retirement. *Australian Psychologist* 1998;33(2):119-124.
- **208.** Ross CE, Drentea P. Consequences of retirement activities for distress and the sense of personal control. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 1998;39(4):317-334.
- **209.** van Solinge H. Health change in retirement A longitudinal study among older workers in the Netherlands. *Research on Aging* 2007;29(3):225-256.
- **210.** Drentea P. Retirement and mental health. *Journal of Aging & Health* 2002;14(2):167-194.
- 211. Costa G, Goedhard WJA, Ilmarinen J, editors.
 Sociability, life satisfaction, and mental health
 according to age and (un)employment status.
 Assessment and Promotion of Work Ability, Health
 and Well-being of Ageing Workers; 2005; Verona, Italy.
- **212.** Fernandez ME, Mutran EJ, Reitzes DC. Moderating the effects of stress on depressive symptoms. *Research on Aging* 1998;20(2):163-182.
- **213.** Fernandez ME, Mutran EJ, Reitzes DC, Sudha S. Ethnicity, gender, and depressive symptoms in older workers. *Gerontologist* 1998;38(1):71-79.
- **214.** Mein G, Martikainen P, Hemingway H, Stansfeld S, Marmot M. Is retirement good or bad for mental and physical health functioning? Whitehall II longitudinal study of civil servants. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 2003;57(1):46-49.
- 215. Bosse R, Aldwin CM, Levenson MR, Workman-Daniels K. How stressful is retirement? Findings from the Normative Aging Study. *Journal of Gerontology* 1991;46(1):9-14.
- **216.** Dave D, Rashad I, Spasojevic J. The effects of retirement on physical and mental health outcomes. *Southern Economic Journal* 2007;75(2):497-523.
- **217.** Cox T. The management of work-related stress with regards to the health of older workers. In: Kumashiro M, editor. *Ageing and Work*. London, UK: Taylor & Francis, 2003:119-127.
- **218.** Hao Y. Productive activities and psychological wellbeing among older adults. *Journals of Gerontology*

- Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences 2008;63B(2):S64-72.
- **219.** Itzin C, Phillipson C. *Age Barriers at Work*. London: METRA, 1993.
- **220.** Work Health Organization. *Aging and working capacity. Report of a WHO study group. WHO technical report series 835.* Geneva: WHO, 1993.
- **221.** European Commission. Prima-EF. Psychosocial risk management: European Framework, 2009.
- **222.** Kilbom Å. W, P., Hallsten, L. Work after 45?: Conference Proceedings *Work after 45?* 1997;Arbete och Hälsa 29.
- **223.** Feldt T. H, K., Mäkikangas, A., Kinnunen, U., Kokko, K. Development trajectories of Finnish managers' work ability over a 10-year period. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health* 2009;35(1):37-47.
- **224.** Redman T, Snape, E. The consequences of perceived age discrimination amongst older police officers: Is social support a buffer? *British Journal of Management* 2006;17(2):167-175.
- **225.** Chui W, Chan A, Snape E, Redman T. Age stereotypes and discriminatory attitudes towards older workers: An East-West comparison. *Human Relations* 2001;54(5):629-661.
- **226.** Kite M, Stockdale G, Whitley B, Johnson B. Attitudes toward younger and older adults: An updated meta-analytic Review. *Journal of Social Issues* 2005;6(2):241-266.
- **227.** Rupp D, Vodanovich S, Credé M. Age bias in the workplace: The impact of ageism and causal attributions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 2006;36(6):1337-1364.
- **228.** Yeandle S. Older workers and work-life balance. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2005.
- **229.** Aquino JA, Russell DW, Cutrona CE, Altmaier EM. Employment status, social support, and life satisfaction among the elderly. *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 1996;43(4):480-489.
- **230.** Waddell G, Burton AK. *Is work good for your health and well-being?* London: The Stationary Office, 2006.
- **231.** Lum TY, Lightfoot E. The effects of volunteering on the physical and mental health of older people. *Research on Aging* 2005;27(1):31-55.
- **232.** Musick MA, Wilson J. Volunteering and depression: the role of psychological and social resources in different age groups. *Social Science & Medicine* 2003;56(2):259-269.
- **233.** Smith JD, Gay P. Active ageing in active communities: Volunteering and the transition to retirement. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2005.
- **234.** Sugihara Y, Sugisawa H, Shibata H, Harada K. Productive roles, gender, and depressive symptoms: evidence from a national longitudinal study of late-middle-aged Japanese. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences & Social Sciences* 2008;63B(4):227-234.
- **235.** Nelson D, Burke, J. *Gender, work stress and health.*Washington DC: American Psychological Association, 2002.
- **236.** Rabbitt P. Management of the working population. *Ergonomics* 1993;34:775-790.

237. National Information Center on Health Services
Research and Health Care Technology. Health Services
Research and Health Policy Grey Literature Project:
Summary Report 2006.

Appendix: Literature review methodology

The system for producing this review followed three principles to ensure that it was comprehensive, incorporating established knowledge as well as recent, high-quality evidence. First, a systematic approach was adopted to reviewing the literature. This involves a formal, replicable approach to literature searching and reviewing. As specified by Help the Aged and TAEN, the literature review was restricted to the last 20 years (January 1990-March 2009). Second, the quality of the research evidence was appraised formally and independently by the research team. This process allowed the review to give greater emphasis to evidence that warranted attention, and ensured that that anomalous and poor quality findings did not contaminate the review. Third, recent studies were reviewed and interpreted in light of the established body of knowledge. Authoritative research is not confined to the last two decades; it may have been conducted several decades ago, be well established in the area, and researchers simply may not have attempted to replicate that research since. It is important that relevant evidence be incorporated into this type of review regardless of its date of publication, or the resulting review may be give an inaccurate impression of the state of scientific knowledge, biased by recent trends in research. To maintain the rigour of the systematic approach, while avoiding the pitfall of neglecting established knowledge, this review combines the critical elements of the systematic review process with an interpretive process based in our wider body of knowledge on ageing, work-related stress and health.

A systematic approach

Traditional narrative or 'expert' reviews of scientific literature are subject to bias by their authors. Such biases can be minimised by adopting a structured, systematic approach with appropriate search criteria. The systematic approach extrapolates the scientific rigour employed in experimental research to the field of reviewing the current state of scientific evidence. The approach requires that all publications relating to a specific research question that are identified in a literature search are appraised and synthesised where they meet the inclusion criteria of the review. This process also aims to convert otherwise unmanageable quantities of material into reliable and robust summaries of the literature. The benefits of the systematic approach are that it is inherently rigorous and objective, and allows other researchers to repeat the review in future using an identical research strategy.

The search strategy

Eleven scientific literature databases and six 'grey' literature databases were interrogated to assure the breadth and depth of coverage. The scientific literature searches were restricted to peer-reviewed publications and primary sources of data found in scientific journals. The grey literature provides summaries, facts, statistics, government reports, theses, conference papers, committee reports,

and other materials that are not controlled by commercial publishers. The grey literature is regarded by many as an important indicator of public interest, reflecting current priorities and providing signposts towards future concerns ²³⁷. Grey literature materials can be a source of ideas about current problems and their possible solutions, and can help to expose the disparity between what researchers have published, and what policymakers, employers and employees want to know. Such reports are often commissioned by government departments to address current or future policy imperatives. Their disadvantage is that they are not always subject to peer review in the same way as publications in scientific journals, and their methodological quality can vary considerably as a result. They may also be driven by political perceptions of areas of interest rather than real, practical or theoretical need. In this way the areas covered by grey literature materials may be biased.

Literature search parameters

The search was restricted to human studies (animal studies and computer modelling studies were excluded) published between January 1990 and March 2009. The review was also restricted to English language publications. The search terms were designed to be as wide as possible, and were organised into three clusters. The first cluster contained terms relating to age (e.g. age, ageing, older, middleaged, elderly). The second cluster contained terms relating to work (e.g. work, worker, employee, occupation). The third cluster contained terms relating to stress (e.g. stress, depression, anxiety, burnout, mental health, psychological health, work-life balance). This strategy produced a very large number of papers that subsequently proved not to be relevant, but it was decided that it was better to be overinclusive than under-inclusive during the initial literature search.

Search results

Over 20,000 articles from the scientific literature and 3,500 articles from the grey literature were identified. Approximately 90 per cent of the scientific articles were excluded on examination of titles and abstracts. Reasons for excluding these articles included (but were not limited to): (a) age being partialled out statistically as a confounding or nuisance variable; (b) search terms being used in divergent contexts (e.g. "employed" as a synonym for "used" rather than the occupational sense; (c) "stress" as a physical force rather than a mental state; (d) "worked" as an indicator of successful function rather than occupation; (e) studies focusing age groups younger than 45 or 50; and (f) studies focusing on older people rather than older workers. Of the remaining articles, those with abstracts or summaries of insufficient scientific quality were also excluded. Where the titles or abstracts of articles were ambiguous, full copies of the publications were collected and reviewed. Further exclusions were then made on examination of the full article for reasons similar to those given above.

Around 200 scientific papers and 50 publications from the grey literature then remained for detailed inspection. Of these, some were excluded from the final review if it became apparent that the titles or abstracts had been misleading, if they could be criticised on the grounds of serious methodological weakness, or where there was insufficient description of the research method to allow for any judgement of methodological rigour.

Interpretation of results

The information identified through the systematic review process was interpreted within the framework of our existing knowledge of ageing, work-related stress and health. This framework was constructed not only from earlier studies on ageing, work and older workers but also from relevant studies on gender, organisations, employment, retirement and occupational health psychology. The interpretative process allowed some of the shortcomings of the date-restricted review to be overcome and a working model of ageing, work-related stress and health to be developed.

TAEN's aim is to help create an effective labour market which works for people in mid and later life, for employers and for the economy. TAEN is supported by Age Concern and Help the Aged.

To find our more about TAEN visit our website at:

www.taen.org.uk or email us at: info@taen.org.uk or call us on: 202 7843 1590

TAEN is the operating name of Third Age Challenge Trust, registered charity number 1002770 and company limited by guarantee, registered in England number 2602523.

Age Concern and Help the Aged have joined together to form Age UK, a single charity dedicated to improving the lives of older people. We are a new charity with a clear vision: a world in which older people flourish. We work with a range of partners to ensure that together we can improve the lives of older people.

To find out more about Age Concern and Help the Aged visit our website at:

www.ageconcern.org.uk or email us at: info@ace.org.uk or call us on 020 8765 7200

Age Concern England (charity number 261794) has merged with Help the Aged (charity number 272786) to form Age UK, a charitable company limited by guarantee and registered in England: registered office address 207-221 Pentonville Road, London N1 9UZ, company number 6825798, registered charity number 1128267. Age Concern and Help the Aged are brands of Age UK. The three national Age Concerns in Scotland, Northern Ireland and Wales have also merged with Help the Aged in these nations to form three registered charities: Age Scotland, Age NI, Age Cymru.